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Abstract 

A number of countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, as part of the process 
of transition, have undertaken major reforms to ensure improved transparency 
in government, in business and in the legal environment. In some countries this 
has appeared to enhance public confidence in the reliability of legal information 
and provide incentives to investors. In this edition of Law in transition online a 
number of positive initiatives have been highlighted, some as the result of EU 
accession and others spurred by developments in the commercial environment. 
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The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) is 
an international institution whose members comprise 61 countries, 
the European Community and the European Investment Bank. The 
EBRD aims to foster the transition from centrally planned to market 
economies in countries from central Europe to central Asia.

The EBRD’s countries of operations are: Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, 
Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Estonia, FYR 
Macedonia, Georgia, Hungary, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Latvia, 
Lithuania, Moldova, Mongolia, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Russia, 
Serbia, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Tajikistan, Turkey, Turkmenistan, 
Ukraine and Uzbekistan.

The EBRD works through the Legal Transition Programme, which is 
administered by the Office of the General Counsel, to improve the legal 
environment of the countries in which the Bank operates. The purpose 
of the Legal Transition Programme is to foster interest in, and help to 
define, legal reform throughout the region. The EBRD supports this 
goal by providing or mobilising technical assistance for specific legal 
assistance projects which are requested or supported by governments 
of the region. Legal reform activities focus on the development of the 
legal rules, institutions and culture on which a vibrant market-oriented 
economy depends.

Information about the EBRD’s Legal Transition Programme can be found 
at www.ebrd.com/law.
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Promoting transparency 
and public access to 
legal information

The growth of the internet has been a 
vital catalyst in improving access to 
information, both for individuals and 
companies. This process has undeniably 
affected the relationship between individuals 
and the state. The shift towards greater 
transparency has enabled governments to 
disseminate information to their citizens 
on an unprecedented scale, but it has also 
led to greater public involvement in the law-
making process. Information has become 
one of the building blocks of democracy. 
Freedom of information can operate as 
a key tool in combating corruption and 
promoting transparency in governance.

A number of questions face those charged with 
drafting and promoting legislation on the right 
of access to information. How extensive should 
an obligation be to publish and disseminate 
information? How can the law ensure that this 
obligation grows in line with developments in 
information and communication technology 
(ICT) which can demonstrably reduce 
publication and dissemination costs? How 
should the regime of exceptions be drafted 
so as to strike an appropriate balance 
between open access and the need to 
protect key public and private interests? 

A number of international bodies promoting 
human rights have clearly recognised the 
fundamental right to freedom of information, 
as well as the need for effective legislation 

to secure that right in practice. Among 
those organisations, the Council of Europe 
(CoE) has been instrumental in efforts 
to improve transparency in its member 
states. Through its Directorate General 
for Democracy and Political Affairs, it aims 
to strengthen democracy, enhance citizen 
participation in decision-making processes 
and examine how ICT can facilitate 
democratic reform in member states. 

The CoE has undertaken a number of recent 
initiatives on access to information in the 
EBRD region. In June 2009 it opened an 
Information Point in Belarus, an office which 
is intended to inform local society about 
CoE activities, and to promote international 
values and standards, including the right to 
freedom of information. In June 2008 the 
CoE organised a round table in Montenegro 
on the theme “Free Access to Information 
and Parliament’s Relations with the Media”. 
This was a joint initiative of the Parliamentary 
Assembly of the CoE and the European 
Agency for Reconstruction, in cooperation 
with the Montenegrin parliament. In 
February 2009 the CoE hosted a conference 
in Azerbaijan on improving the quality of 
legislation, enhancing the transparency and 
efficiency of the legislative process, and 
measures to insulate the process from 
corruption. Access to information can play an 
important role across all of these issues.  

Jean-Louis Laurens, Director General, Democracy and Political Affairs, 
Council of Europe
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The CoE has also been active in the field 
of e-governance (using ICT to improve the 
quality of services delivered by governments 
to citizens and businesses). This project 
was initiated in 2002. In February 2004 the 
Committee of Ministers of the CoE adopted 
terms of reference for the Ad Hoc Inter-
Sectoral Group of Specialists on e-Governance 
(IP1-S-EG) and in December 2004 the 
Committee adopted Recommendation 
Rec(2004)15 on electronic governance. The 
Recommendation on e-Democracy,1 which 
was adopted by the Committee of Ministers 
on 18 February 2009, includes references 
to e-governance in line with, and building 
on, the Recommendation on e-governance.

Another CoE project on “Good Governance in 
the Information Society”, focuses on how new 
ICT affects the practice of democracy, human 
rights and the rule of law in CoE member 
states. The project’s main task is to use ICT 
to improve democratic practices. Another 
task is to examine the new developments 
in e-voting by organising biennial review 
meetings of the CoE Recommendation on 

“Legal, operational and technical standards 
for e-voting” of September 2004.

It is revealing that the EBRD, through the 
work of its Legal Transition Programme, has 
identified a strong trend among its countries 
of operations towards developing ICT policies 
and frameworks. In particular, access to 

legal information, such as draft legislation 
and court decisions, has proved to be an 
essential tool in strengthening the young 
democracies of central and eastern Europe. 
As the lead article by the EBRD argues, the 
implementation of freedom of information 
legislation is a vital tool in combating 
corruption and maintaining confidence in 
public institutions. Further articles in this 
issue demonstrate how these concepts have 
been embraced, and what challenges remain, 
notably in Croatia and Hungary. A further 
contribution highlights how the Albanian 
government is working with international 
institutions to put in place a freedom of 
information framework. The article on Russia 
shows how the size of the commercial 
market in that country has led to competition 
among providers of legal information, 
thereby contributing to increased quality.

This edition of Law in transition is a very 
welcome initiative to foster the debate about 
transparency in government institutions and 
the key role civil society and international 
institutions play in that context. 

1. Recommendation CM/
Rec(2009)1 of the Committee 
of Ministers to member states 
on electronic democracy 
(e-democracy) (Adopted by the 
Committee of Ministers on 18 
February 2009 at the 1049th 
meeting of the Ministers’ Deputies)
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The impact of freedom of 
information law on public 
access to legal information

Introduction

Freedom of information (FOI) is a relatively 
modern concept and largely a 20th century 
idea, with the exception of Sweden.1 A 
Freedom of Information Act was adopted 
in the United States in 1966. In the 
United Kingdom a private member’s bill 
was introduced in 1978. The most recent 
version of the United Kingdom’s Freedom of 
Information Act came into force on 1 January 
2005. These countries, regarded as liberal 
democracies, have continuously supported 
the idea of allowing citizens to have access 
to information through various media. 

Globally there are now approximately 70 
countries that have enacted legislation to 
access records held by their governmental 
authorities and there are also another 50 
countries where the legislation is pending.

FOI legislation defines the fundamental 
“right to know” legal process by which 
those requesting information (citizens) may 
ask for government-held information and 
receive it freely or at minimal cost, with 
some predefined exceptions. Also variously 
referred to as “open records”, governments 
are also typically duty-bound to publish 
legislation and promote transparency. In many 
countries there are constitutional guarantees 
for the right of access to information, but 
generally these are largely unused if specific 
supporting legislation has been enacted. 

The countries of eastern Europe and central 
Asia, areas previously subject to communist 
rule, have only very recently adopted this 
idea. In fact, legislation relating to freedom of 
information has only been enacted in most of 
the EBRD’s countries of operations within the 
last decade. This article will discuss whether 
the enactment of this legislation has resulted 
in the wider availability of legislation (both 
draft and adopted) and court decisions in 
the EBRD region. There will also be a general 
overview of availability and accessibility of 
information in some of the countries where the 
public can read or download legislation and 
recent court decisions.

Previously, in the absence of freedom of 
information legislation, some countries had 
included this concept in their constitution. 
However, most references to freedom of 
information are generally brief and do not 
provide any guidance on the scope of these 
rights or how they should be administered. It 
is apparent that ensuring the availability of 
laws domestically to the legislature, to private 
citizens and to those involved in a country’s 
commercial environment is advantageous 
financially and enhances legal knowledge. To 
have the laws available to an international 
audience (that is, via the most direct medium 
of the internet) is both financially appealing 
(to the foreign investment community) and 
useful for comparative purposes (to the 
international legal community). There is thus 
a link between the framework surrounding a 

1. In Sweden freedom of 
information legislation has been 
maintained almost continuously 
since 1766.

Paul Byfield, Legal Information Specialist, EBRD

Allowing citizens access to government information is widely recognised as a 
human right and as an administrative tool to improve governance. 
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country’s approach to freedom of information 
and how laws and the legal system are 
made available domestically and globally.

Implementation of international law

On 18 June 2009, 12 of the 47 member 
states of the Council of Europe signed the 
Convention on Access to Official Documents.2 
The 12 signatories3 made history as they 
signed the “first international binding legal 
instrument that recognises a general right 
of access to official documents held by 
public authorities.” Each of the signatories 
is still to ratify the Convention. Nonetheless 
it has been recognised as a significant 
step forward in the challenge to improve 
transparency in government institutions. 

However, the Convention has been criticised 
as being fundamentally weak in its scope: it 
fails to specify court decisions, draft laws and 
categories of information (such as, financial 
information and procurement) as being 
necessarily subject to dissemination by the 
government. However, some non-governmental 
organisations (NGOs) have stressed the 
importance of this Convention being ratified 
by the member states as it does at least set 
minimum standards for confirming access to 
government information. Of the 12 countries 
which have signed the treaty, eight are in 
eastern Europe, and were, with the exception 
of Hungary, either originally part of the former 
Yugoslavia or the Soviet Union. However, the 
fact that these countries have signed the 
Convention does not signify that they have 
successfully implemented their own domestic 
legislation or even that this legal concept is 
fully embedded within their legal culture. This 
analysis will demonstrate how much still 
needs to be done in four of these countries.

ESTONIA
Article 44 of the constitution4 adopted in 
1992 originally set out the rights and duties 
of citizens and public authorities with regards 
to information access and retrieval and stated 
that: “Everyone shall have the right to freely 
receive information circulated for general use.”

The constitution, and the specific legislation 
enacted thereafter to deal with freedom of 
information allows an Estonian citizen the right 
to view documents and request access to 
information. 

The first version of the Public Information 
Act (PIA) was approved in 2000 and took 
effect in 2001. An updated PIA was passed 
by parliament in December 2007 and came 
into force on 1 January 2008.5 The Act covers 
the following: state and local agencies; legal 
persons in public law and private entities 
which are conducting public duties including 
educational, health care, social or other 
public services. The Act also states that any 
person may make a request for information 
and the information holder must respond 
within five working days; this sets a relatively 
high threshold for a response from the holder. 
However, if the holder decides that to provide 
the information requested is time consuming 
they may take a further 10 days to fulfil the 
request (so long as they have notified the 
person requesting information within the 
five-day period). Requests for information are 
registered and request fees, while statutory, 
may be waived in certain circumstances. This 
last measure suggests that some members of 
the public may be precluded from requesting 
information if they simply cannot afford it. 
National and local government departments 
and other holders of public information have 
a duty to maintain web sites and post an 
extensive list of information on the internet; 
draft acts,6 regulations and plans including 
explanatory memoranda. These entities are 
also required to ensure that the information 
is not “outdated, inaccurate or misleading”. 
In addition, email requests must be treated 
as official requests for information.

Article 31 of the PIA sets out which 
government authorities and agencies are 
required to maintain a web site (for example, 
the Chancellery of the Riigikogu,7 the Office of 
the President of the Republic,8 the Office of 
the Chancellor of Justice,9 and the courts (for 
example, the Supreme Court and the district 
courts).

2. conventions.coe.int/Treaty/EN/
Treaties/Html/205.htm

3. Belgium, Estonia, Finland, FYR 
Macedonia, Georgia, Hungary, 
Lithuania, Montenegro, Norway, 
Serbia, Slovenia and Sweden

4. www.president.ee/en/estonia/
constitution.php

5. www.legaltext.ee/en/
andmebaas/ava.asp?m=022

6. www.neti.ee/

7. www.riigikogu.ee/index.
php?id=34634

8. www.president.ee/en/

9. www.oiguskantsler.ee/

http://conventions.coe.int/Treaty/EN/Treaties/Html/205.htm
http://conventions.coe.int/Treaty/EN/Treaties/Html/205.htm
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Article 32 specifies which obligations and 
duties those agencies must carry out 
(publicising web site addresses, keeping 
these sites up to date and accurate, 
disclosing dates of issue and dealing 
promptly with technical problems). 

Article 33 also states that “every person 
shall be afforded the opportunity to 
have free access to public information 
through the internet in public libraries, 
pursuant to the procedure provided 
for in the Public Libraries Act”.

The Act puts in place a transparent system 
which provides for broad public access to 
laws and court decisions. It also specifies a 
range of responsibilities which must be borne 
by the provider (that is, the state authority) 
to ensure that the information is accurate. 

Another important element of Estonia’s 
freedom of information legislation is the 
existence of an independent public authority 
responsible for the supervision of the 
implementation of the legislation, the Data 
Protection Authority (DPA). The DPA reports 
annually to the Estonian legislature concerning 
PIA compliance. Any person who has been 
denied access to requested information 
may file a complaint with the DPA or with an 
administrative court. There have been only a 
few court cases so far. A review by the Council 
of Europe GRECO (Group of States Against 
Corruption) committee10 found that the Act was 
successful in promoting access to information.

The GET (GRECO Evaluation Team) found 
that the rules promoting transparency of the 
Estonian public administration are satisfactory. 
The GET confirmed that the PIA had brought 
significant improvements and facilitated 
enhanced access to public documents. 
Estonia has been found to be an eastern 
European country that has especially effective 
freedom of information legislation and strong 
implementation mechanisms and institutions. 

FYR MACEDONIA
Article 16 of the Constitution11 provides: 

“The freedom of speech, public address, 
public information and the establishment 
of institutions for public information is 

guaranteed. Free access to information and 
the freedom of reception and transmission 
of information are guaranteed.”

The Law on Free Access to Information 
of Public Character12 was adopted on 25 
January 2006. The law allows any natural 
or legal person to obtain information from 
state and municipal bodies and those 
who are performing public functions. The 
requests can be oral, written or electronic 
and must be responded to within 10 
days. There are exemptions, for example, 
classified information, confidential 
information, information regarding tax 
violations and pending investigations. 

Those who are denied information can appeal 
to the Commission for the Protection of the 
Right to Free Access to Information of Public 
Character (the Commission), which was 
established in May 2006. The Commission 
can decide on complaints. It also ensures 
the Law is implemented, publishes the list 
of information holders, trains public officials 
and compiles an annual report of all the 
statistics for requests in the previous year. 
Articles 30-35 of the Law set out the status 
and responsibilities of the Commission. 
However, the law does not describe the 
types of information that must be made 
public, and thus does not demand any 
additional publication requirements of the 
information holders. Also published were 
a set of accompanying guidelines which 
set out procedures for implementation and 
include an appendix of request forms. This 
measure was put in place to assist the 
information holders with implementation. 

Despite what appears to be the establishment 
of a relatively robust and accountable system 
to deal with these issues, there have been 
a number of concerns relating to the law. 
Despite the relatively extensive powers set out, 
appeals of the Commission’s decisions can be 
filed in court. Non-governmental organisations 
(NGOs) were particularly instrumental in 
applying pressure to have the law drafted 
and during this process the scope and 
wording of the law was changed on numerous 
occasions and postponed several times. 

The Public 
Libraries Act 
of Estonia 
provides for 
broad public 
access to 
laws and court 
decisions.

“ ”

10.  www.coe.int/t/dghl/
monitoring/greco/general/about_
en.asp

11. www.sobranie.mk/en/default.
asp?ItemID=9F7452BF44EE814B8
DB897C1858B71FF

12. www.legislationline.org/
documents/action/popup/id/8240
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Just before adoption a letter was signed by 
over 120 NGOs which expressed concerns 
about the proposed law. The law appeared to 
be secondary to other related legislation (that 
is, the Secrecy Law) and plans to give the 
commission powers to oversee appeals were 
dropped in favour of handing potential cases 
over to the regular courts. This raised concerns 
about the independence of the process.

The law sets out the procedures for 
requesting information and states the 
duties of the information holders and the 
status, composition and responsibilities 
of the Commission. However, the law does 
not specify which government web sites 
should publish information and does not 
guarantee citizens’ rights to comment on 
draft laws or other policy-making initiatives. 
In fact observers have commented that 
government departments and agencies 
should be required to make materials 
available progressively via their web sites. 
This is a low cost method of publication 
which has been shown to greatly enhance 
transparency and openness in public life.

HUNGARY
Article 61 of the Constitution stipulates 
that: “everyone has the right to freely express 
his opinion, and furthermore to access and 
distribute information of public interest”.13

Act No. LXIII of 1992 on the Protection of 
Personal Data and Disclosure of Data of 
Public Interest is a combined Data Protection 
and Freedom of Information Act (passed 
well before most countries in the region had 
seriously considered this type of legislation). 
The Act guarantees that all persons should 
have access to information of public 
interest, which is broadly defined as any 
information being processed by government 
authorities. Requests can either be written 
(including electronically) or oral. Agencies 
must respond to requests within 15 days.

State or official secrets and information 
related to national defence, national 
security, criminal investigations, monetary 

and currency policy, international 
relations and judicial procedure can be 
restricted if specifically required by law. 

The Parliamentary Commissioner for Data 
Protection and Freedom of Information14 
oversees the Act. Besides acting as an 
ombudsman for both data protection and 
freedom of information, the Commissioner’s 
tasks include: maintaining the Data 
Protection Register and providing opinions 
on data protection and draft legislation 
regarding access to information, as well 
as each category of official secrets. Those 
denied access can appeal to the courts. 

The Parliamentary Commissioner in his 
2004 report noted a number of continuing 
problems, including access to court 
records and the cost of disclosures to 
public bodies. Some regulatory bodies 
also refused to report on their activities.

In July 2005, parliament passed a law on 
electronic freedom of information15 which, 
according to the Ministry of Informatics 
and Communication, makes Hungary one 
of the most progressive countries in the 
world with regard to the publicising of 
information that is in the public interest. 

This very positive assessment of the merits of 
the law may be justified. The law prescribes 
the list of specific data of public interest 
that must be published on the internet: the 
publication of draft bills, laws, and – partially 

– the anonymous form of court decisions; 
and lastly, the creation of a database that 
makes the published data searchable and 
retrievable. The law also obliges ministries 
and municipalities to provide a forum on 
their web sites where users can express their 
opinion regarding the draft bills, thus allowing 
citizens to participate in the legislative 
process in a direct and immediate manner.

The legal framework is seen as being 
particularly forward-thinking as Hungary is 
currently one of the only European nations 
to enact a single law that deals with the 

13. www.mkab.hu/en/enpage5.htm

14. www.obh.hu/indexen.htm

15. www.legislationline.org/
download/action/download/
id/1253/file/5f8198445594dde5c
2e5b1cb90b4.pdf
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regulation of freedom of information with 
regard to the protection of personal data. This 
has been implemented by also establishing 
the post of a specialist ombudsman 
to deal with both (related) issues.

In July 2005, the European Commission 
announced that it was taking legal action 
against Hungary and six other countries for 
failing to implement the 2003 European Union 
(EU) Directive on access to environmental 
information. In light of this, it would appear 
that even within a state as progressive as 
Hungary, the implementation of freedom of 
information legislation does not necessarily 
guarantee a fully “open government” culture.

Most recently the Civil Liberties Union (CLU) in 
Hungary won a landmark case at the European 
Court for Human Rights against the Hungarian 
government. In a judgment dated 14 April 
2009, the Court declared that withholding 
information needed for public debate on 
matters of public importance may violate 
freedom of expression. The CLU alleged that 
the decision of the Hungarian Constitutional 
Court denying it access to the details of a 
parliamentarian’s complaint pending before 
the Hungarian Constitutional Court had 
amounted to a breach of its right to have 
access to information in the public interest.

MONTENEGRO
Unlike the other countries in the region 
Montenegro did not establish a general right 
of freedom of information in its Constitution.16 
Article 19 gives everyone a right to “timely and 
complete information” about the environment. 
Article 31 gives individuals a right to access 
personal information and prevent abuse of that 
information. 

The Law on Free Access to Information17 was 
adopted in November 2005, to some extent to 
fall in line with the rest of the countries in the 
region.

The Law allows any naturalised or legal citizen 
the right to access information held in any 
form by state and local authorities, public 
companies and other entities with public 
powers. Requests must be in writing, including 

via email, and must be responded to within 
eight days, with the option to extend this 
deadline to a further 15 days if certain criteria 
are met. In urgent cases, responses must be 
within 48 hours.

There are the usual exemptions for:

 � national security, defence or international 
relations

 � public security, commercial or other private 
or public economic benefits

 � economic monetary or foreign exchange 
policy

 � prevention and investigation of criminal 
matters

 � personal privacy and other personal rights

 � internal negotiations. 

Appeals are to the supervisory body of the 
agency and can then be made to a court. 
There are sanctions for agencies and officials 
who fail to allow access to information. 
Government bodies are also required to create 
and publish lists of types of information held, 
including public registers. However, the Law 
does not specify what legal information should 
be published on the internet and does not 
state which government bodies or agencies 
should have web sites. 

The Ministry of Culture and Media is in 
charge of implementing the Law and has 
conducted some training for officials, but the 
perception by NGOs is that there has been 
little political will to support the Law. NGOs 
have reported that several hundred requests 
have been filed so far and the agencies 
responded on time in around 50 per cent of 
cases (this is a relatively good response rate). 
Of the 17 government web sites referred to 
during research, only two specify guidelines 
relating to information access: the Ministry of 
Finance and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

In 2005, before the adoption of the Law, the 
Organization for Security and Co-ooperation in 

16. www.venice.coe.int/
docs/2005/CDL(2005)096-e.pdf

17. www.osce.org/documents/
mnt/2006/07/19758_en.pdf
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Europe (OSCE) made some recommendations 
about the draft law as follows:

“1. A commitment should be made to 
bring information provisions in other laws, 
including secrecy provisions, into line with 
the draft law as soon as possible. In any 
event, a provision should be inserted in 
the draft law specifying that its provisions 
take precedence over other laws.

2. The grounds upon which the deadline for 
responding to an information request may 
be extended should be clearly set out in the 
draft Law and should include only cases where 
large amounts of information is requested or 
where finding the requested information would 
require a search through a large number of 
documents which would unreasonably interfere 
with the activities of the body.

3. The draft Law should make it clear that 
providing additional data that might facilitate 
the search for information is optional for 
requesters.”18

In theory “the constitution and law provide 
for public access to information”. In practice 
access to public information was more 
limited. Some ministries were reluctant to fully 
implement the law. While the courts usually 
supported access to information, their orders 
to the ministries were often ambiguous and 
consequently ignored.

Conclusion

Allowing citizens access to government 
information is widely recognised as a 
human right and as an administrative tool 
to improve governance. It promotes public 
participation, democratic accountability and 
public trust in decision-making. Citizens are 
better able to participate in the democratic 
process when they have information about 
the activities and policies of the government. 
Public awareness of the reasons behind 
decisions can improve support for those 
decisions and reduce misunderstandings and 
dissatisfaction about them. In order to be 
successful, freedom of information legislation 
needs to address the procedures for 
dealing with information requests, establish 
sanctions for those who fail to answer those 
requests and establish an independent 
and competent information commission. 

Beyond this, and in order to fully engage 
with the public and the business community 
(both local and foreign) the authorities 
need to publish information relating to the 
legal environment in the country, including 
the laws and any court decisions. Any 
improvements in the transparency of 
governments are also seen as a significant 
factor for economic development and 
increased foreign investment in an economy, 
as they protect the rights of companies 
and individuals when doing business.

18. www.article19.org/pdfs/
analysis/montenegro-march-2005.
pdf
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Table 1: Freedom of Information legislation enacted in EBRD countries of operations
Jurisdiction Name of Law Date enacted

Albania Law on the right to information over official documents June 1999

Armenia Law on Freedom of Information 2003

Azerbaijan Law on Information, Informatization and Protection of Information April 1998

Belarus The bill of the Republic of Belarus “On Information, Informatization and Protection of 
Information” was adopted by the parliament and signed by the President on 10 November 
2008. It came into force in May 2009.

May 2009

Bosnia Freedom of Access to Information Act for the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina 
Freedom of Access to Information Act for the Republika Srpska

July 2001 
18 May 2001

Bulgaria Access to Public Information Act 2000

Croatia Act on the Right of Access to Information 15 October 2003

Czech Republic Law on free access to information, 106/1999 Coll. 11 May 1999

Estonia Public Information Act December 2007

Georgia Chapter 3 of the General Administrative Code of Georgia is entitled “Freedom of 
Information”.  

1999

Hungary Data Protection and Freedom of Information Act No. LXIII (1992) as amended  
by Act No XLVIII (2003) 
Act No. XC (2005) on the Freedom of Information by Electronic Means

2003

FYR Macedonia Law on Free Access to Information of Public Character 2006

Kosovo (Serbia) Law on Access to Official Documents. No. 2003/12. (UNMIK) 2003

Kazakhstan Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Kyrgyz Republic Law of the Kyrgyz Republic on Guarantees and Free Access to information 1997

Latvia Law on Freedom of Information (Adopted 29 October 1998, Signed 6 November 1998.) 1998

Lithuania Law on Provision of Information to the Public. (July 2, 1996 No. I-1418, as amended by 
June 20, 2002 No. IX – 972)

2002

Moldova Access to Information Law, No 982-XIV 5 November 2000

Mongolia There is no specific law guaranteeing the right to access information held by public bodies. 
The Constitution, Article 16(17) sets out the basic right.

Montenegro Law on Free Access to Information November 2005

Poland Law on Access to Public Information 6 September 2001

Romania The Law Regarding the Free Access to the Information of Public Interest.  
(October 2001)

Russia Law on Providing Access to Information on the Activities of State Bodies and Bodies of 
Local Self-Government (in English) (Approved by the Council of the Federation on January 
28, 2009)

28 January 2009

Serbia Serbian Act on Access to Public Information 2004

Slovak Republic The Act on Free Access to Information (approved in May 2000 and came into force on 1 
January 2001)

2001

Slovenia Act on Access to Information of Public Character March 2003

Tajikistan The Law of the Republic of Tajikistan on Information 
The Constitution of the Republic of Tajikistan, 1994

May 2002

Turkmenistan There is no specific law guaranteeing the right to access information held by public bodies  
Constitution of Turkmenistan.1992 Article 26 sets out the right to access government held 
information.

Turkey Turkish Law On The Right To Information, Law No: 4982 2003

Ukraine Ukrainian Law on Information  1 December 2001

Uzbekistan Law On Principles and Guarantees of Freedom of Information (Russian) 12 December 2002

Note: Where specific legislation has not been enacted there is reference to provisions relating to freedom of information in another law
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Table 2: Availability of legal information in the EBRD countries of operations

The table looks at four categories of web site/information resource:

1. Official gazette – these are the journals/bulletins regularly published by the state 
publishing unit detailing information about legislative decision making within the 
government. In the absence of an official gazette the author has sourced a newspaper 
that publishes information about new laws, amendments and draft laws.

2. Government web sites – four main types of government web site (central legislative 
body, that is Parliament or National Assembly; Ministry of Justice, Ministry of 
Finance, Ministry of Economy, Ministry of Trade and Development).

3. Legal databases – either government run or sponsored, privately run enterprises or those published 
by international organisations (any that provide a substantial collection of legislative material).

4. Court decisions - constitutional or supreme court decisions, courts of appeal and economic courts



Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Albania Official gazette 
www.legjislacionishqiptar.gov.al 
 
Official Publications Centre – text of laws 
issued by Parliament, in Albania. 

Parliament of Albania  
www.parlament.al 
 
Council of Ministers 
www.keshilliministrave.al 
Full text of Constitution, Parliamentary bills 
and acts.   
 
Ministry of Justice  
www.justice.gov.al 
 
Ministry of Economy, Trade and Energy 
www.mete.gov.al/index.php?l=e 
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.minfin.gov.al 

Lexadin – World Law Guide 
www.lexadin.nl/wlg/legis/nofr/eur/lxwealb.
htm 
Comprehensive list of legislation, full text in 
English.

Supreme Court 
www.gjykataelarte.gov.al/english/index.htm 
Decisions of the Supreme Court shall be 
published in the Periodical Bulletin of the 
Supreme Court. Decisions that serve to 
unify or alter court practices are published 
immediately in the next issue of the Official 
Gazette. 
 
Constitutional Court 
www.gjk.gov.al  
Database of summaries of decisions since 
1992. 
 
High Council of Justice 
www.kld.al 
Summaries of decisions in English,  
since 2003.  
 
Court of Appeal of Tirana 
www.gjykatatirana.gov.al 

Armenia Publishing House of the government 
Contact at pashtonakan@netsys.am  
(web site not available) 
Basic laws of the Republic of Armenia, decrees 
of the President, decisions of the National 
Assembly, and decisions of the Government 
and Prime Minister, and decisions of the 
Constitutional Court. 
 

National Assembly of the Republic of Armenia 
www.parliament.am/?lang=eng 
Full text in English, a comprehensive database, 
listing dates of amendments. 
  
Ministry of Justice 
www.moj.am/en/page.php?17 
 
Department of State Property Management 
www.privatization.am/index.
php?page=legislation&hl=en_US 

IRTEK Legal Database
www.irtek.am/ENG/Database.html#ch7 
 
ARLIS (Armenian Legal Information Service) 
www.arlis.am 

Constitutional Court 
www.concourt.am 
Summaries of decisions in English dating back 
to 1992. 
 
Armenian Court web site 
www.court.am 
Decisions of the Council of Courts Chairmen, 
full text in Armenian. 

Azerbaijan Ministry of Justice 
www.justice.gov.az 
Information about five legal publications 
in English and Azeri; direct links to text of 
publications is not available via this site. 

Ministry of Justice 
www.justice.gov.az/eng/index.php 
Some Acts and decrees available in English, 
(links to legal database in Azeri only)
 
President of Azerbaijan 
www.president.az/index.php 
Presidential Decrees. 

Legislation of Azerbaijan 
www.consulting.minimax.az/search 
Translations of legislation into English also 
available.

Constitutional Court  
www.constcourt.gov.az/en 
Decisions in English since 1998. 
 
Surpreme Court 
www.supremecourt.gov.az 
Some decisions of the court in Azeri. 
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Belarus Belarus Legislation News
[web address?] 
Weekly online newsletter, published by the 
National Centre for Legal Information, can be 
subscribed to via the online portal. It is an 
update of the titles and a brief description of 
legal acts that have been registered in the 
National Register of Legal Acts, also decisions 
of the President, decisions of the government 
and regulations from government ministries.

Council of Ministers of the Republic of Belarus 
National Centre of Legal Information 
www.law.by 

[Name of institution] 
www.government.by/en/main.html 

Supreme Court  
www.court.by/en 

National Legal Internet Portal of the Republic 
of Belarus 
ftp.ncpi.gov.by/work/EnglPortal. 
nsf?OpenDatabase 
This is a comprehensive database of legal 
acts, specific guides and acts for the 
commercial sector and information about the 
legislative process.

Constitutional Court
ncpi.gov.by/ConstSud/eng 
Publishes an Official Bulletin

Supreme Economic Court 
www.court.by/en 
Information in English for foreign investors. 

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Official Gazette of the Republic of Serbia
www.slglasnik.org 
Free access, 2002 onwards. 

Government of FBiH 
www.fbihvlada.gov.ba/english/index.php 
Chronological register of laws since 1996. 
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.fmf.gov.ba 
Database of laws 
 
Agency for Privatization in the Federation of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina 
www.apf.com.ba/o-agenciji/?cid=3,1,1 
 
Foreign Investment Promotion Agency 
www.fipa.gov.ba 

Office of the High Representative of FbiH 
www.ohr.int/ohr-dept/legal 

Constitutional Court of BiH 
www.ccbh.ba/eng 
 
The Court of BiH 
www.sudbih.gov.ba 
List of laws, trial schedules, database of court 
decisions can be sorted by case number and 
last name. 

Bulgaria National Assembly – State Gazette 
http://dv.parliament.bg/DVWeb/index.faces 
Full text and free access since July 2008. 

Ministry of Finance 
www.minfin.bg/en 
List of laws and regulations in English. 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.justice.government.bg 
Links to laws and draft laws. 
 
Supreme Court of Cassation 
www.vks.bg/english/index.html 
Full text of legislation in English. 
 
Ministry of Economy,Energy and Tourism 
www.mi.government.bg 
Comprehensive collection of legislation in 
English.  

Bulgarian Legal Portal
www.lex.bg
Rules of law in force, Legal database in 
Bulgarian and English. Information about the 
arbitration courts, patents, prosecution offices, 
legal associations, legal digest. 
 
CIELA 
www.ciela.net 
Subscription access only.

Constitutional Court 
www.constcourt.bg 
Summaries of decisions in English since 
1994. 
 
In September 2008 it was decided, by the 
Bulgarian Supreme Judicial Council that all 
Bulgarian courts have to start publishing 
their decisions online. This followed criticism 
from the EU relating to delayed reforms in the 
judiciary. 
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Croatia Official Gazette of the Republic of Croatia 
‘Narodne novine’ 
www.nn.hr 

Ministry of Labour, Trade and Entrepreneurship 
www.mingo.hr
Legislation, regulations, treaties and portal of 
legislation relating to procurement. 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.pravosudje.hr/ (information in Croatian 
only) 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and European 
Integration 
www.mvpei.hr 
Links to documents on EU Accession, as 
well as the Stabilisation and Association 
Agreement. 

Supreme Court 
www.vsrh.hr/EasyWeb.asp?pcpid=579 
Contains a library of expert papers and 
presentations, lists of public sessions and a 
comprehensive database of legislation. 
 
Intellectio Iuris 
www.pravnadatoteka.hr/hrv/index_en.asp 
Database of court decisions, opinions 
of authorities, index of articles and 
introductions/contents pages of legal titles, 
seminars and other published papers. 
 
Koreckt 
www.korekt.hr 
Access by subscription only, indivudual laws 
can be purchased and delivered via email. 

Sudacka mreža (‘Judges Web’) 
www.sudacka-mreza.hr/ 
Selected court decisions, overview of the 
latest judicial practice of the Croatian High 
Commercial Court. It allows public access to 
first and second instance commercial rulings. 
There are no charges for using the database. 
 
Constitutional Court 
www.usud.hr/default.aspx 
List of recent decisions on home page, 
database of decisions that can be searched by 
several factors and listed in an index. 
 

Czech Republic Ministry of the Interior of the Czech Republic 
Community Law Department 
www.mvcr.cz/clanek/odbor-legislativy-a-
koordinace-predpisu.aspx 

Parliament of the Czech Republic – Chamber 
of Deputies 
www.psp.cz/sqw/hp.sqw 
Links to online Parliamentary library, collection 
of some basic laws and election material.

SAGIT Legal Database 
www.sagit.cz/ 
 
Lex Dara (part of the CH Beck publishing 
house), Lex Data. 
www.lexdata.cz 
 
Lex Galaxy 
www.lexgalaxy.cz

Supreme Court  
www.nsoud.cz 
All rulings published since 2000. 
 
C.H Beck (Official Publishers of Supreme Court 
Decisions) 
www.beck.cz 
 
Supreme Administrative Court 
www.nssoud.cz 
Collection of decisions, in Czech only. 

Estonia State Gazette 
www.riigiteataja.ee/ert/ert.jsp 
Free access to consolidated texts.

Ministry of Justice 
www.just.ee/?set_lang_id=2 
 
Ministry of Finance  
www.fin.ee/?lang=en 

Legal Translation Center  
www.legaltext.ee/indexen.htm 

Supreme Court 
www.nc.ee/?lang=en 
 

Georgia Weekly Newsletter of the Parliament of Georgia 
www.parliament.ge/newsletter/english/index.
html  
Weekly update re draft laws, statements and 
resolutions.  

Parliament of Georgia
www.parliament.ge 
Legislation since 1992. 
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.mof.ge 
A searchable database of laws in Georgian. 
 
Ministry of Economic Development  
www.economy.ge 
 

Georgian-European Policy and Legal Advice 
Centre
www.geplac.org 
Inventory of laws in English, Georgian Law 
Review in English. 

Supreme Court 
www.supremecourt.ge  
Judgments and pending cases, in Georgian 
only. 
 
Constitutional Court 
www.constcourt.ge 
Full text of judgments in English. 
 
Supreme Council of Justice  
www.hcoj.gov.ge  
Only in Georgian 
 
Tbilisi City Court 
www.tcc.gov.ge 
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Hungary Hungarian Official Journal 
www.kozlonyok.hu/nkonline/index.php 

Parliamentary Commissioner 
www.obh.hu/indexen.htm 
Reports published online since 1996.

CompLEX Publishing Company 
www.complex.hu  
Statues enacted by the Hungarian Parliament 
since 1990. 
 
Legal Database  
www.mhk.hu/n_online/index.php  
By subscription. 

Constitutional Court 
www.lb.hu/english/index.html 
Major decisions of the court in English since 
1992. 

FYR Macedonia Official Gazette of the former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia 
www.slvesnik.com.mk 

Ministry of Finance 
www.finance.gov.mk 
Comprehensive list of laws in English. 

Ministry of Justice 
www.pravda.gov.mk 
Collection of laws in English. 

Legal Database
www.pravo.org.mk/formLOGIN.asp 
Legislation from 1992 in pdf format. 
Registration (free) required.

Macedonian Legal Resource Centre 
www.mlrc.org.mk 
Collection of laws in English.  

Kosovo (Serbia) UNMIK 
www.unmikonline.org/regulations/index.htm 

UNMIK 
www.unmikonline.org/regulations/
unmikgazette/index.htm 

Constitutional Court  
www.gjk-ks.org/?cid=2,1 

Kosovo Property Agency 
www.kpaonline.org 
Claims relating to property disputes. 

Kazakhstan The official gazette Kazakhstan Pravdasy 
(No information available)

President of Kazakhstan  
www.akorda.kz
Updates about new laws published since 
2005. 
 
E-Government Portal 
www.e.gov.kz/wps/portal 
Legislative material not available in Englsh, 
some in Kazakh. 
 
Parliament 
www.parlam.kz 
Constitution, regulations and procedural order 
of Parliament, Legislative Acts not available in 
English. 

Ministry of Finance 
www.minfin.kz
Only one law is available in English and 
budgetary information. 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.minjust.kz 
Legislation and draft laws not available in 
English. 
 
[Name of insitution]
www.fic.kz/ 
Links to description of legal framework, 
business guides, legal and taxation updates.  

Zakon.kz Information Portal
www.zakon.kz 
Extensive collection of legislation in Russian. 
 
The Republican Centre of Legal Information 
www.banknet.kz 
A database of 19,000 legal documents, in 
Kazakh and Russian. 
 
Kazecon 
www.kazecon.kz 
Online service with legislation, a doing 
business guide and business news and 
analysis. 
 
 

Constitutional Council 
www.constcouncil.kz/eng/main 
Decisions and intepretations of the Council in 
English. 
 
Supreme Court 
www.supcourt.kz 
Useful information about the court process in 
English, legislation not available in English. 
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Kyrgyz Republic Official Gazette of the Jogorku Kenesh 
(Parliament)
[No web site available]

Supreme Council 
www.kenesh.kg 
Links to legislative information and summaries 
of hearings – only in Kyrgyz. 
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.minfin.kg 
The web site has an English language option 
but information not currently available. 
 

Adviser database 
www.adviser.kg 
Free subscription and access to legislative 
material in Russian. 

Toktom Information Centre 
www.toktom.kg 
Full text of laws in Russian.  
 
Lexadin 
www.lexadin.nl/wlg/legis/nofr/oeur/lxwekyr.
htm
A free internet resource, good collection of 
full text of laws in English and links to other 
resources, page last updated March 2009. 
 
Legislation on judicial system of Kyrgyzstan  
www.laws.gov.kg 
Laws in Russian.  

Constitutional Court 
www.ks.kg/
No information in English, decisions in Kyrgyz 
and Russian.  

Latvia Latvian Herald 
www.vestnesis.lv 
Information on legal acts published free of 
charge.  
 

Ministry of Justice 
www.ur.gov.lv 
Links to Commercial Register and Legal Acts, 
in English. 
 

Statutory Information System
home.nais.lv/?l=en 
Subscription only. Database of laws, bills, 
regulations, decrees, and international 
conventions and agreements.  
 
Lursoft/Latlex Database 
www.lursoft.lv/ 
Acts, regulations and court decisions, Latvian 
only. 

Constitional Court 
www.satv.tiesa.gov.lv 
Text of decisions – 1997 onwards, text of 
some judgments, summary of decisions and 
status. 
 
Supreme Court 
www.at.gov.lv 
Database of civil, criminal and adminstrative 
decisions, in Latvia only. 

Lithuania Official gazette 
www.valstybes-zinios.lt/vpp31/lt/ 
Lithuanian only.

Seimas (Parliament) 
www3.lrs.lt 
Comprehensive, searchable database of laws 
with English translations. 

Legal Information Centre 
www.litlex.lt 
Free access, full text, comprehensive 
collection of Laws in English.

Constitutional Court 
www.lrkt.lt 
Decisions and rulings of the court, 1993 
onwards, in English. 
 
Supreme Court of Lithuania 
www.lat.it 
Access to the rulings passed by the Supreme 
Court: civil cases (since 1995), criminal cases 
(since 2001), only in Lithuanian.  
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Moldova Monitorul Oficial (official gazette) 
www.moldpres.md 
A weekly publication of laws adopted by the 
Parliament of the Republic of Moldova and 
Government decisions. 
 
Parliamentary Bulletin 
www.parlament.md/news/pc/en.html 
Published monthly, online since 2003.

Parliament 
www.parlament.md/en.html 
Legislation, draft laws, currrent and adopted 
draft papers. 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.justice.gov.md 
 
Ministry of Information Development 
www.mdi.gov.md/en

Legislation of the Republic of Moldova
www.law-moldova.com/eng/legislation_
republic_moldova.html 

Register of legal acts 
www.lex.md/ 
Subscription-based access, full text laws in 
Moldovan.

Constitutional Court 
www.constcourt.md 
Links to constitution, jurisdictional code,  
court decisions and news sections are 
currently under construction. 

Mongolia State bulletin
[Web address]
The official publisher of all laws and 
Parliamentary resolutions (Mongolian only). 
 
National Legal Centre 
www.legalcenter.mn 
Since 2002 the National Legal Center has the 
exclusive right to publish the official text of all 
new legislation (Mongolian only).

Parliament of Mongolia 
www.parliament.mn 
Links to English home page not working.  
 
Foreign Investment and Foreign Trade Agency 
www.investmongolia.com 
Full texts of laws in English, summary of the 
legal framework and business climate in 
English. 
 
State Property Committee 
www.spc.gov.mn 
Full text of laws, including civil code. 

National Legal Centre 
www.legalcenter.mn 
Since 2002 the National Legal Center has the 
exclusive right to publish the official text of all 
new legislation (Mongolian only). 

Lexadin – World Law Guide 
www.lexadin.nl/wlg/legis/nofr/oeur/lxwemon.
htm 
Full text of laws in English.

Constitutional Court
www.conscourt.gov.mn/Default.aspx 
Some decisions, 1993 onwards. 

Montenegro Official Gazette of Montenegro 
www.sllrcg.cg.yu 

Parliament of Montenegro  
www.skupstina.cg.yu 
Legislation in Montenegrin only. 
 
Ministry of Finance  
www.gov.me/eng/minfin 
 
Ministry of Justice  
www.gov.me/eng/minprav 
 
Ministry of Economy  
www.gov.me/eng/minekon 
 
Ministry of Interior and Public Administration 
www.gov.me/eng/minunutr 

Lexadin – World Legal Guide 
www.lexadin.nl/wlg/legis/nofr/eur/lxwemnt.
htm 

Constitutional Court 
www.ustavnisudcg.cg.yu/engleska/istorijate.
htm 
Some decisions in English and links to 
relevant legislation.

The Courts of the Republic of Montenegro
www.sudovi.cg.yu/index2.php 
ww.sudovi.co.me
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Poland Journal of laws and Official Journal 
www.rcl.gov.pl 
Government legislation centre. 
 

Polish Senate 
www.senat.gov.pl/indexe.htm 
Constitution, rules and regulations.

The Sejm Parliament (Lower House) 
www.sejm.gov.pl 
Updates of laws and drafts, updated weekly, 
rules and regulations of the senate. 
 
Polish Information and Foreign Investment 
Agency 
www.paiz.gov.pl 
Summaries  and analysis of laws in English. 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.ms.gov.pl/en 
 
Ministry of Economy 
www.mg.gov.pl 
Full text of relevant laws in English. 

Lex Polonica 
www.lexpolonica.lexisnexis.pl 
Polish version of Lexis Nexis 
 
Commercial Law Centre 
www.prawo.org.pl 
A comprehensive source of main laws 
–administrative law, commercial law, civil law 
and civil procedure law, tax law (Polish only). 
 
Polish Legal Server 
www.lex.com.pl 
Several regulations including the Polish 
Commercial Law, Banking Law, Tax Law, Labour 
Law, etc. Currently free of charge. Click on 
“Service” and then on “Zbiory Praw” to get 
access to the Polish versions of laws.

Supreme Court 
www.sn.pl 
Current versions and archive of judicial 
decisions,judicial bulletin,since 1999, Polish 
version. 
 
Polish Constitutional Tribunal 
www.trybunal.gov.pl 
Summaries of judicial decisions in English, 
since 1998. 
 

Romania Monitorol Oficial (Official Journal of Romania) 
www.monitoruloficial.ro
Publisher of laws, decrees, motions and 
emergency ordinances.  

Romanian Government  
www.gov.ro 
 
Chamber of Deputies 
www.diasan.vsat.ro 
Legal database, constitution, regulations 
of deputies, in Romanian, some material in 
French and English.

DSC Lex  
www.dsclex.ro 
Collection of laws in Romanian and English. 

Indaco – legal database 
www.indaco.ro/produseLegeStart.html 
Over 35,000 full-text documents. Subscription-
based service, some information is freely 
available. 

Ministry of Justice,  
www.lexexpert.ro 
Comprehensive collection of court decisions 
(constitutional, city and regional courts) and 
legal texts 

Russia Russia Gazette
www.rg.ru/oficial 
Russian only – free access. 

Russian Government 
www.government.ru 
This site contains all Russian governmental 
documents relating to the public (Russian 
only).  
 
Russian President 
www.kremlin.ru 
In Russian and English, this site contains 
legislation and all Presidential decrees and 
other Acts. 
 
State Duma 
www.asozd.duma.gov.ru/main.nsf 
Large collection of draft laws and  enacted 
legislation (Russian only). 
 
Ministry of  Justice 
www.minjust.ru 

ConsultantPlus 
www.consultant.ru/sys/english/Laws 
Decrees, regulations and ordinances from 
Administration of the President of the Russian 
Federation, Administration of the Government 
of the Russian Federation, Administration of 
the Federation Council of the Federal Assembly 
of the Russian Federation, Administration of 
the State Duma of the Federal Assembly of the 
Russian Federation, many federal ministries 
and governmental departments of the Russian 
Federation. 
 
Garant 
www.garant.park.ru 
 
Garant (English version) 
www.egarant.ru 

Constitutional Court 
www.ksrf.ru/Docs/Pages/default.aspx 
In Russian only, this site contains all decisions 
and resolutions of the Russian Constitutional 
Court. 

Arbitration Courts in the Russian Federation 
www.arbitr.ru/ 
Contains the majority of Russian commercial 
court decisions. English version is limited to 
overview of Russian court system and news. 
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Serbia Public Enterprise Official Gazette 
www.slglasnik.com  
Access by subscription. 

National Assembly 
www.parlament.sr.gov.yu/content/eng/index.
asp 
Constitution and rules of procedure, in English.
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.mfin.gov.rs/eng/ 
Links to laws, regulations and draft laws 
in English, also the Bulletin of Official 
Explanations and Official Opinions regarding 
Application of Financial Regulations (Serbian 
only). 
 

ERBI Serbian Survey 
www.pregled-rs.com/index.php?lang=en 
Online (subscription only) access to full text of 
laws in Serbian and English).

Supreme Court of Serbia 
www.vrhovni.sud.srbija.yu 
 

Slovak Republic Official Journal of the Slovak Republic  
http://jaspi.justice.gov.sk/jaspiw1/jaspiw_
maxi_fr0.htm 
Access to laws free of charge (Slovak only).

National Council of the Slovak Republic 
www.nrsr.sk 
Links to constitution, laws and parliamentary 
committees. 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.justice.gov.sk/a/wf.aspx 
Laws not available in English, companies 
register with English interface. 
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.finance.gov.sk 
Links to laws and regulations in English. 
 
Slovak Investment and Trade Development 
Agency 
www.sario.sk
Links to key trade laws and rules on state aid 
in English. 

Lexadin 
www.lexadin.nl/wlg/legis/nofr/eur/lxweslw.
htm 
Comprehensive list of laws in English.

Consitutional Court  
www.concourt.sk/en.do  
Rulings in English 1993-2003. 
 
Supreme Court of the Slovak Republic 
www.nssr.gov.sk 
Decisions not available in English. 

Slovenia The Official Gazette of the Republic of Slovenia 
www.uradni-list.si  
Links to legislation and bulletins (Slovene 
only).

Natioanal Assembly of Slovenia 
www.dz-rs.si 
Links to Constitution, laws and other 
regulatory material.
 
Ministry of Finance  
www.mf.gov.si/angl/index.htm 
Banking, securities markets, taxation, 
procurement, payment transactions, 
investment funds, guarantees. 
 
Ministry of the Economy 
www.mg.gov.si/en 

Register of Legal Acts in Force 
www.zakonodaja.gov.si/rpsi/rps_kazala.html 

Slovenian Business Portal (Doing Business 
Guide) 
www.poslovniportal.si 
comprehensive collection of legislation

Constitutional Court
www.us-rs.si/en 
All decisions adopted since 25 June 1991, 
can do a keword search or search by applicant, 
judgment, date. 

Supreme Court 
www.sodisce.si/DefaultENG.htm 
Judgments passed since 1992 are available, 
only in Slovene. 
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Country Official gazette Government web sites with legal content Legal databases Court decisions 

Tajikistan Laws, codes and decrees of Parliament are 
published in the Akhbori Majlisi Oli (Parliament 
Gazette), not available online.

Parliament  
www.parlament.tj  
No links to laws or constitution in English. 
 
President of Tajikistan
www.president.tj/eng/index_eng.htm 
Some laws in Tajik and Russian, not in English. 
 
Embassy of Tajikistan to the USA 
www.tjus.org/ 
List of laws, information on tax and banking 
system. 

Tajik Development Gateway 
www.tajik-gateway.org 
 
Investment Oppurtunites of Tajikstan 
www.tajinvest.tj 
Comprehensive list of laws. 

USAID – Reform Library 
www.bei-ca.net/Library.asp?DocCountryID=4  
Comprehensive list of laws, in English and 
Russian.  
 
Hauser Global Law School Program at NYU 
School of Law 
www.nyulawglobal.org/globalex/Tajikistan.htm 
Links to codes and laws.

No information available. 

Turkmenistan Neutral Turkmenistan,  
www.turkmenistan.gov.tm/_en 
Published daily (except Sundays) in Russian). 

Embassy of Turkmenistan in the USA 
www.turkmenistanembassy.org 
Laws and information on the investment 
environment. 

World Law Guide – Lexadin 
www.lexadin.nl/wlg/legis/nofr/oeur/lxwetmi.
htm  
(list of laws in full text, in english)

No information available 

Turkey Turkish Republic Official Journal 
www.rega.basbakanlik.gov.tr 
Laws and other bulletins, free of charge.

Parliament (Grand National Assembly) 
www.tbmm.gov.tr/english/english
Link to Constitution. 
 
Treasury Ministry
www.treasury.gov.tr 

Prime Ministry official web site 
www.basbakanlik.gov.tr
Turkish legislation (password required).

Supreme Court
www.anayasa.gov.tr/general  
Not available in English. 

Supreme Court 
www.yargitay.gov.tr 
Cases not available in English.
 
Supreme Adminstrative Court 
Copies of laws, decisions not available in 
English. 

Ukraine Official Gazette of the Ukraine
www.gdo.kiev.ua/arhiv_zmist.php 
Ukranian only – free access. 

Parliament of Ukraine 
http://portal.rada.gov.ua 
 
Ministry of Finance 
www.minfin.gov.ua/control/en/index 
Laws and draft bills, links to public 
consultation documents.

LIGA Zakon 
www.liga.net 

Unified State Register of Judgements 
www.reyestr.court.gov.ua/pls/apex/
f?p=300:1:605825489069939 
 
State Court Administration of Ukraine
www.kmu.gov.ua

Supreme Court  
www.scourt.gov.ua 
 
Constitutional Court  
www.ccu.gov.ua/en/index 
Text of opinions and decisions from 1997. 
 
Higher Arbitration Court  
www.arbitr.gov.ua 

Uzbekistan Ministry of Justice – Centre for Legal 
Information 
www.lex.uz  
Published laws in Uzbek and Russian.

Parliament of Uzbekistan 
www.parliament.gov.uz/en 
List of laws approved since 2005 (in English). 
 
Ministry of Justice 
www.minjust.uz

[Name of institution?]
www.pravo.uz/english 

Uzbek Supreme Court 
www.supcourt.gov.uz 
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Public participation and 
policymaking in Hungary

Introduction

The transition to democracy in central and 
eastern Europe should include reforms that 
promote public comment on draft policies and 
that hold public officials to account when they 
exercise delegated authority. Yet in practice 
public participation is a weak link in this 
transition. Democracy is not fully consolidated. 

Environmental policies are particularly 
salient because they are often of great 
concern to ordinary people, impose costs 
on existing businesses and require the aid 
of expert professionals. This area is also 
of considerable interest to the European 
Union, which has made compliance with 
its policies a condition of accession 
and has supplied crucial organisational, 
professional and financial support to the 
Ministry of the Environment and Water.2 

As a case study, this article looks at 
environmental policymaking in Hungary, a 
relatively advanced transition economy but 
one in which challenges to public participation 
in policymaking remain.3 The article 
examines the important role of a handful 

of Hungarian civil society organisations, 
but stresses the relative weakness of the 
organisational landscape and of the groups’ 
legal rights to participate in policymaking. 

It also outlines the policymaking process 
in Hungary, looking at how citizens and 
organisations can participate, briefly 
discussing the overall organisation 
and efficacy of environmental groups, 
then focusing on the behaviour of 
environmental organisations in Hungary.

Public participation

The problem of implementing a multitude 
of vague laws has been particularly acute 
in central and eastern Europe during the 
transition period. Legislatures have been 
described as “law factories” – producing 
many laws rapidly in areas where the 
parliamentarians are uninformed about 
the technical details. That is why the 
Hungarian government, like others in the 
region, has faced a massive problem of 
implementation that requires the government 
to promulgate general rules to give clarity 
and specificity to legal mandates.

1. This article is derived from 
S. Rose-Ackerman (2005; Polish 
translation 2009), From Elections 
to Democracy: Building Accountable 
Government in Hungary and 
Poland, Cambridge, UK: Cambridge 
Univ. Press, which includes fuller 
citations and information about 
the interviews conducted in 
2002-03 in Hungary and Poland. 
The book is part of the Collegium 
Budapest project on Honesty and 
Trust: Theory and Experience in 
the Light of the Post-Socialist 
Transition. See J. Kornai and 
S. Rose-Ackerman, eds. (2004), 
Building a Trustworthy State in 
Post-Socialist Transition, New York: 
Palgrave Macmillan; J. Kornai, B. 
Rothstein, and S. Rose-Ackerman, 
eds. (2004), Creating Social Trust 
in Post-Socialist Transition, New 
York: Palgrave Macmillan.

2. Aron Buzogány, “Hungary: 
The Tricky Path of Building 
Environmental Governance,” in 
Tanja Börzel, ed., Coping with 
Accession to the European Union: 
New Modes of Environmental 
Governance, New York: Palgrave, 
pp. 123-147 (forthcoming).

3. See Tanja Börzel, ed., Coping 
with Accession to the European 
Union: New Modes of Environmental 
Governance, New York: Palgrave 
(forthcoming). On Hungary and 
Poland see Rose-Ackerman (2005).

Susan Rose-Ackerman, Henry R. Luce Professor of Law and Political Science at Yale University1 

In a democracy, the government needs to be held to account by citizens. Citizens 
exercise this control indirectly by selecting elected representatives who make 
policy and delegate decisions to government ministries. But much government 
policymaking occurs in ministries that are controlled by the legislature and are 
poorly monitored. There are good reasons for delegating decisions, such as 
the expertise of officials and legislators’ lack of time, but the justifications for 
delegating to ministries do not vitiate the need for public officials to consult with 
businesses and worker and civil society groups. Officials may have the ultimate 
authority to make policy under delegations of legislative authority, but they need to 
make these choices in a transparent way after listening to those with an interest in 
the outcome.



EBRD | Law in transition online 2/6

Public participation in the formulation of 
these rules would enhance their legitimacy. 
However, public participation outside of 
elections is not well institutionalised. Although 
Hungary has an administrative code and 
recognises the need for reasoned decision-
making within the government, there is no 
legal requirement to publish draft rules or 
give outsiders general participation rights. 

However, the environmental area is relatively 
open; draft laws are routinely accessible to 
the public either through the official web site 
of the Environmental Ministry4 or through 
postings on sites maintained by civil society 
groups. Public input is aided by a new 
Parliamentary Commissioner (Ombudsman) 
for Future Generations5 who accepts petitions 
from individuals and groups and “shall 
express an opinion on drafts of statutory 
instruments and other governmental motions 
connected with his tasks, and may make 
a proposal for legislation in his sphere of 
tasks.” He “may also participate in obligatory 
public hearings” within his sphere of tasks.6

Formal hearings open to the public are 
uncommon, and even when they do take 
place, appear to be of limited importance to 
the outcome. The constitution authorises the 
government to issue decrees, but they must 
not conflict with statutes or with higher ranking 
legal norms. Fundamental rights cannot be 
regulated by executive decrees alone.7

Hungary’s Law on Normative Acts, originally 
passed in 1987 at the end of the socialist 
period, specifies that the government must 
consult with “citizens – directly or through 
their representative bodies (art.19).”8 
Unfortunately, the Law does not create legally 
enforceable rights, and the Constitutional 
Court has not been sympathetic to attempts 
to build consultation requirements into the 
constitution. In 2001 it held that consultation 
was not constitutionally required unless the 
groups to be consulted were explicitly listed in 
the statute.9 So the Law is essentially advice 
to the government to consult broadly. It has 
not been a way for civil society groups to claim 
legal rights to participate in policymaking. 

Advisory councils
Advisory councils are permanent bodies 
with shifting individual membership that 
review a range of government proposals and 
sometimes initiate studies on their own. For 
example, the National Environmental Council 
(NEC) reviews all draft laws and rules with 
an environmental impact and reports to the 
government.10 It consists of seven members 
representing the environmental movement, 
seven representing the scientific community, 
seven from business groups, plus the Minister 
of the Environment. The members are chosen 
by each of the three groups so the government 
has no role in appointing members.

In practice, the NEC has limited effectiveness. 
Although the government is obligated to 
provide drafts to the NEC and give it time 
to respond, this does not always happen. 
Frequently, the time given to respond is a 
week or two, even though the Act specifies 
30 days for the review of environmental 
assessments. More fundamentally, the NEC 
cannot be characterised as a public forum and 
is not equivalent to an open hearing process. 
Rather, the interests and the people consulted 
are defined ex ante, not issue by issue.11 

Role of the constitution
The constitution gives citizens the right to 
learn about and disseminate information 
of public interest.12 The 1992 Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) codified this right 
and the Environmental Protection Act also 
contains a freedom of information provision.13 
Civil society groups use the FOIA to push for 
the disclosure of internal government drafts 
but with mixed results.14 The Act has an 
exception in article 19(5) stating that: “working 
documents and other data prepared for the 
authority’s own use, or for the purpose of 
decision making are not public within 30 years 
of their creation. Upon request, the head of 
the authority may permit access to these 
documents or data.” In 2000 the Ombudsman, 
responding to complaints from civil society, 
pointed out that some ministries treat drafts 
circulated to outsiders as exceptions while 
others do not. He argued that the line between 
public and private drafts needs to be clarified 

4. www.kvvm.hu/index.php?pid=96. 

5. www.jno.hu/en/.

6. Guideline: How to Prepare a 
Complaint to the Parliamentary 
Commissioner for Future 
Generations: http://jno.
hu/menu=guideline.

7. L. Sólyom and G. Brunner, 
eds. (2000), Constitutional 
Judiciary in a New Democracy: 
The Hungarian Constitutional 
Court, Ann Arbor MI: University of 
Michigan Press, pp. 178-199.

8. Law on Normative 
Acts (XI/1987).

9. Decisions 10/2001, 7/1993, 
16/1998, 50/1998, 39/1999.

10. See its web site at: 
www.oktt.hu/?p=okt. 

11. Rose-Ackerman 
(2005), pp. 154-156.

12. Hungarian constitution, 
article 61 (1).

13. Act on Protection of Personal 
Data and Disclosure of Data 
of Public Interest (LXIII/1992); 
Environmental Act (LIII/1995).

14. EMLA [Environmental 
Management and Law Association] 
(2002), Identified Legal, 
Institutional, and Practical Barriers 
to Public Access to Environmental 
Information to Support Public 
Involvement in Hungary for 
Danube Pollution Reduction Goals, 
Budapest, Hungary: EMLA.
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in light of the public interest in understanding 
and debating proposed rules and laws. 

In short, mechanisms for consultation exist, 
especially for environmental policy. They mostly 
take the form of consultation committees 
with an advisory role that are more or less 
independent as far as membership is 
concerned. Overall, there are no general legal 
requirements governing notice, participation 
and reasoned justification with respect to 
government strategic policymaking and the 
issuance of decrees and rules. However, 
environmental policymaking is relatively open 
to input from non-governmental organisations 
(NGOs) although, as a recent study 
documents, it is still weakly institutionalised 
and subject to tensions between government 
and non-governmental participants.15

Organised groups are key
Improved participation rights would mean little, 
however, unless there are organised groups 
willing to be part of the process. If groups 
simply organise street protests or engage in 
self-help, a more open administrative process 
will have minimal impact. This concern is a 
real one in central Europe. Businesses and 
trade unions have umbrella organisations, 
some with official status. Statutory self-
governing institutions exist for regions 
and municipalities and for groups such 
as students, professionals and academic 
researchers. Organised political parties 
contest elections, and those in opposition are 
active critics of the incumbents. Nevertheless, 
there is one important weakness: only 
a small portion of the non-profit sector 
engages in advocacy, and it is poorly funded 
and lacks broad-based membership. 

To have staying power, civil society groups 
need professional staff and fairly stable 
budgets. Only a small number of organisations 
appear to be in that category. This means 
that on any given issue the groups capable 
of monitoring government and participating 
in policymaking is small. Professional 
advocacy, beyond grassroots mobilisation 
over particular issues, is weak and may face 
more serious problems if foreign support falls 
without an increase in domestic funding. 

Advocacy for environmental 
issues in Hungary

Environmental activism in Hungary began 
at the end of the socialist period with a 
small core of activists able to mobilise large 
numbers of people to protest particular 
issues. During the 1990s many new groups 
were formed but most are small, volunteer 
organisations with few funds. Several more 
professional organisations play a key role in 
government policymaking. The most active 
are members of several specialised umbrella 
organisations dealing with issues such as 
air pollution, waste management, energy 
and nature conservation. The key members 
of most of these groups have interacted for 
most of the transition period. They have an 
annual National Gathering of Environmental 
and Nature Protection NGOs and are advised 
by the Environmental Management and 
Law Association (EMLA).16 But even these 
groups depend on the energy of a few 
committed people, have few funds and rely 
on grants from public and private sources 
that may be cancelled after a few years.17

Case studies by Pickvance in the mid-1990s, 
the author’s own interviews in 2002, and 
more recent work by Aron Buzogány, confirm 
that it is possible to establish non-partisan 
NGOs that gain the attention of political 
bodies through a reputation for expertise and 
for responding to genuine citizen concerns.18 
Relations with public officials are sometimes 
rocky, but the groups’ access to the media 
and public sympathy for their efforts have 
helped to sustain them and have given 
them some influence. Some politicians 
support these groups as a way to increase 
the salience of environmental issues inside 
government, and there is some movement of 
people back and forth between government 
and NGOs.19 In contrast, some groups distrust 
the state, limit their dealings with public 
officials and claim to be “anti-political.”20 

Opportunities in the environmental sector
In the environmental sector the legal 
framework establishes that the basic statute 
requires consultation, and an executive 
decree provides more specifics. The most 

Improved 
participation 
rights would 
mean little 
unless there 
are organised 
groups willing 
to be part of 
the process

15. Buzogány (2009).

16  See its web site: www.
emla.hu/englishsite/index.
shtml (consulted 7 July 2009).

17. E. Kuti (2000), 1%: Forint Votes 
for Civil Society Organizations. 
Budapest: Research Project on 
Nonprofit Organizations, p. 29; 
K. Harper (1999), From Green 
Dissidents to Green Skeptics: 
Environmental Activists and 
Post-Socialist Political Ecology 
in Hungary, Ph.D. dissertation 
Department of Anthropology, 
University of California, Santa 
Cruz; Ann Arbor MI: UMI 
Dissertation Services, p. 43.

18. K. Pickvance (1998), 
Democracy and Environmental 
Movements in Eastern Europe: 
A Comparative Study of Hungary 
and Russia, Boulder CO: Westview 
Press; K. Pickvance and L. 
Gabor (2001), “Green Future - in 
Hungary,” in Pink, Purple, Green: 
Women’s, Religious, Environmental 
and Gay/Lesbian Movements in 
Central Europe Today, ed. Helena 
Flam, Boulder CO: East European 
Monographs, pp. 104-111; Rose-
Ackerman (2005); Buzogány (2009)

19. Pickvance (1998), pp. 150-
155 and author’s interviews.

20. Harper (1999).

“ ”
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detailed provisions, however, are directed 
at participation in decisions about individual 
projects at the local level. Legal provisions 
concerning participation in policymaking 
are vague and not judicially enforceable. 

However, pressure from the international 
arena also encourages participation. The 
Aarhus Convention of the United Nations 
Economic Commission for Europe was 
ratified by Hungary in 2001, and it requires 
strengthened democratic environmental 
governance.21 European Union directives 
require information to be provided to the 
public and environmental impact statements 
to be prepared.22 The European Union has 
also provided funds and expert advice on 
consultative processes, but its emphasis is on 
expert input and neo-corporatist structures.23 

So there are relatively good opportunities 
for civil society to take part in the formation 
of environmental policy, and these may 
increase over time. However, the most 
important problem may not be opportunities 
for participation so much as the vulnerability 
of civil society groups, with their dependence 
on government and international funding 
and on the energy of a small number 
of unusually committed individuals.

NGOs face three interlinked difficulties: 

financial and human capacity �

credibility �

effective access to the policymaking  �

process. 

Each is summarised in light of the author’s 
interviews conducted in the autumn of 
2002 with leading members of most of the 
major policy-oriented groups and umbrella 
organisations. More detail is available 
in Rose-Ackerman,24 and, of course, the 
specifics of the findings would need to be 
modified to reflect current conditions. 

The groups fall into five broad categories: 

a group in decline but that was a key player  �

in the transition process

a moderate membership-based group  �

founded in the midst of the Socialist period

the branch of a moderate international  �

environmental group 

umbrella groups and professional staff  �

local groups with national visibility.  �

Financial backing is crucial for effectiveness
The groups receive equal funding from the 
Hungarian government, foreign foundations 
and public bodies, with small contributions 
from individuals and domestic businesses. 
Typically, neither membership fees nor 
the 1 per cent tax check-off25 is a major 
source of funds. Multinational firms with 
business interests in Hungary provide 
some project funding to a few groups. 
Some groups run related businesses 
that bring in considerable revenue. None 
appeared to have a sizeable endowment. 

Government funding comes from several 
grant programmes administered by the 
Ministry of the Environment with non-profit 
input and through project funds from various 
ministries, the government and parliament. 
The consequences of failing to receive 
government funds can be harsh. For example, 
consider Danube Circle, a well-known group 
that mobilised mass protests in the 1980s 
to protest against the government’s plans 
to build a dam on the Danube.26 In the 
autumn of 2002 it did not have any paid 
staff, a small membership base, an annual 
budget of about HUF 1.5 million (just over 
€6,000) and it shared an office. It failed to 
receive government funding for professional 
development in 2002 and did not apply for 
funds from the ministry. It sees its mission 
as being a critical voice that provides 
competent technical assessments of policies 

There are good 
opportunities 
for civil society 
to take part in 
the formation of 
environmental 
policy

“ ”
21. United Nations, Economic 
Commission for Europe, Convention 
on Access to Information, 
Public Participation in Decision-
making and Access to Justice in 
Environmental Matters, done at 
Aarhus, Denmark, on 25 June 
1998, at www.unece.org/env/pp/. 
See also S. Rose-Ackerman and 
A. Halpaap (2002), “The Aarhus 
Convention and the Politics of 
Process: The Political Economy 
of Procedural Environmental 
Rights,” Research in Law and 
Economics, Vol. 20, pp. 27-64.

22. The European Union has 
issued directives that require 
both environmental assessments 
[85/337/EEC, 1985 OJ 9l 175) 44] 
and public access to environmental 
information [90/313/EEC, 1990 
OJ (L 158) 56-58]. J. Caddy 
(2000), “Implementation of EU 
Environmental Policy in Central 
European Applicant States: 
The Case of EIA,” in C. Knill 
and A. Lenschow eds. (2000), 
Implementing EU Environmental 
Policy, New Directions and Old 
Problems, Manchester and 
New York City: Manchester 
University Press, pp. 197-221.

23. Buzogány (2009).

24. Rose-Ackerman (2005).

25. This is a system in some 
countries that allows the taxpayer 
to specify tax donations to certain 
programmes or institutions. 

26. B. Jancar-Webster (1998), 
“Environmental Movements and 
Social Change in the Transition 
Countries,” Environmental 
Politics, Vol. 7, p 71; Pickvance 
(1998); Pickvance and Gabor 
(2001), pp. 104-111.
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and projects. Nevertheless, it has limited 
impact simply because of lack of funds. 

The other groups were all struggling financially 
and depended heavily on government funds. 
The funding picture that emerged from the 
interviews was not very secure. Domestic 
private donations from individuals provided 
only a tiny share of revenue. Business 
support was generally weak and mostly 
project-based. Support from abroad, from 
both official sources, such as the European 
Union, and foundations, was critical for 
several groups but had no long-term staying 
power. Government support was essential. 
Even if some funds were given with no strings 
attached, the ability of these groups to carry 
out independent advocacy activities may 
have been compromised. These groups must 
attract local private funds if they are to survive 
as strong voices for environmental causes.

Credibility
A second concern is whether the government 
has any reason to take environmental 
groups seriously. The groups followed two 
overlapping strategies: the first is to develop 
grass roots support and to educate people 
about environmental problems – access to 
the media is a key resource here and has 
been used creatively by several groups. The 
second is to gain credibility by providing 
expert opinions to public officials. 

The major environmental groups are not mass 
organisations. Most of them work to mobilise 
public support for issues and seek publicity in 
the media to increase the salience of issues. 
For example, Green Future was founded by 
scientists in 1989 to raise awareness of the 
problem of hazardous pollutants in a mixed 
industrial/residential district of Budapest. The 
group worked to persuade people of the health 
problems they faced and it eventually attracted 
large numbers of neighbourhood residents 
to its meetings. Although Green Future tries 
to mobilise people around particular issues, 
it is not a mass membership or client-based 
organisation. Instead, in 2002 it had 20-
30 members of whom 8-10 were active. 

The alternative strategy of providing expert 
advice and critiques of draft laws and 
regulations is the focus of the umbrella 
groups and the World Wildlife Fund 
(WWF), for example, although they also 
sponsor public events and forums. Only 
the WWF has enough resources to carry 
out original research designed to put new 
issues on the government’s agenda.27 

Effective access to the policymaking process
The groups’ relations with government are a 
function both of legal and political practice and 
the shifting personalities inside government. 
When a policy is under consideration, a 
group will request a copy of the draft law or 
regulation. If the ministry stalls the group can 
go to the media, and the threat of bad publicity 
has sometimes been effective. For example, 
HuMuSz, a group concerned with waste and 
recycling, staged a media event in which they 
used a catapult to shoot waste paper at the 
Environmental Ministry in a successful effort 
to embarrass the ministry and obtain a copy of 
a draft law dealing with waste and packaging.28 

Going to court to force greater openness or to 
challenge decisions after they are made is not 
a fruitful approach. In principle, it is possible 
to ask a court to order the Environmental 
Ministry to release a draft but, in practice, 
this is not a realistic option. It remains to 
be seen if the Parliamentary Commissioner 
(Ombudsman) for Future Generations will have 
enough leverage to open up the process. 

However, legal challenges are sometimes 
worthwhile. EMLA, whose long-time head is 
now the Ombudsman, has brought several 
hundred cases and has assisted on many 
others. In one 18-month period EMLA initiated 
42 new cases and provided advice on 200 
smaller cases. Its annual reports and web site 
outlines its activities. The cases appear mainly 
to be challenges to particular development 
projects or pollution from particular sources.29 

27. The WWF is apparently still 
among the more well-funded 
and staffed groups in Hungary, 
according to Buzogány (2005).

28. Rose-Ackerman (2005) p. 187.

29. EMLA [Environmental 
Management and Law Association] 
(2002), Annual Report 2000-
2001, Budapest: EMLA, p. 5. 
Web site: www.emla.hu.
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Conclusion

The environmental sector in Hungary has some 
relatively well-established civil society groups, 
some of which date back to before transition 
to democracy began. Environmentalism is 
associated with opposition to the previous 
(socialist) regime and gains public support as 
a result. However, the economic strains of 
transition have made strong environmental 
protection seem a luxury as they are 
perceived to preclude economic development. 
Furthermore, sensible environmental policy 
requires participants in the debate to be 
informed about scientific and technical 
issues. The environmental groups try to 
be technically competent themselves and 
to involve ordinary people in protests and 
educational events. They have been only partly 
successful, which is hardly surprising given 
the difficulties of securing funding, motivating 
ordinary citizens, educating their own staff 
and getting effective access to government 
processes that are themselves in flux.
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Public access to legal 
information in Russia

Introduction

In addition to the laws and Acts, practitioners  
need to look at court practice. Russia has 
a legal system based on civil law where 
court decisions are not binding precedents, 
but its laws are still developing and can 
often be open to varying interpretations. 
Accordingly, reviewing how the courts have 
interpreted particular laws is critical – far 
more so than in other civil jurisdictions.

As general social awareness of the law is a key 
to a law-abiding state, and publicly available 
information is one of the hallmarks of a free 
society, there is an increasing effort to make 
information available to the public in Russia.

Access to the law post-1991
Before 1991, all state enterprises reported 
to a specific ministry, and in most cases the 
supervising ministry required the enterprise 
to subscribe to a digest of statutes, that is a 
regular publication of laws and regulations. The 
digests were available in companies’ libraries. 
They were also available in the biggest public 
libraries for use by the public or by lawyers 
who did not have access to company libraries.

In 2009, the company library is a thing 
of the past. So where do the interested 
public and practising professionals 
find a copy of the laws and regulations 
governing life in modern Russia?

Publicly available electronic sources

In theory, all Russian citizens should be 
able to access any information that is open 
to the public from the relevant government 
body or ministry, as is guaranteed by the 
Russian constitution.2 Such information 
would include, at the very minimum, all 
binding laws and implementing regulations.

In practice, though, access to up-to-date 
information about laws and their attendant 
regulations has not always been easy. Recently, 
however, modern technology is helping bring 
to life the theory of public access by using the 
internet as a key source of information about 
the functioning of government and the content 
of legislation in force. Internetworldstats.com 
reports that Russia has one of the fastest-
growing internet populations in Europe.3

Decree on Access to Information
Although Russia still falls behind in total 
internet penetration compared with the rest 
of Europe,4 the government requires that 
public agencies make full use of it to keep 
the public informed. Under the Decree on 
Access5 issued in 2003 and amended in 
November 2008, federal executive authorities 
are required, among other things to:

provide access to information about the  �

activity of federal executive authorities, with 
the exception of information restricted by 
federal law, by creating state information 
resources

1. With a contribution from Natalia 
Yefanova, Knowhow Director, White 
& Case LLC, Moscow office

2. See Article 24(2) of “The 
Constitution of the Russian 
Federation”, as amended: “The 
bodies of state authority and local 
self-government, their officials shall 
ensure for everyone the possibility 
of acquainting themselves with 
the documents and materials 
directly affecting his or her rights 
and freedoms, unless otherwise 
provided for by law”.

3. See www.internetworldstats.
com/stats4.htm.

 4. By contrast, Trendsniff.com 
reports that Russia’s mobile 
internet penetration exceeds that 
of most of western Europe.

5. Decree No. 98 of the Russian 
government, 12 February 2003, On 
Providing Access to Information on 
the Activity of the Government of 
the Russian Federation and Federal 
Executive Authorities.

D. Ronald Surbey,1 Counsel, White & Case LLC, Moscow office

In Russia, as everywhere, ignorance of the law is no defence. This doctrine holds 
true even where the array of laws and Acts – federal, regional, municipal, decrees, 
orders and informational letters – can challenge even the most experienced legal 
practitioner.

http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
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place such state information resources on  �

the internet, on a timely and regular basis

keep citizens and organisations regularly  �

informed of the activities of federal 
executive authorities by using other means 
as may be envisaged under the laws of the 
Russian Federation.

The Decree on Access contains a list of 55 
items that must be published on the internet. 
These include federal laws, details of the 
bill-drafting activities of the government, 
decrees of the Russian President and other 
regulatory Acts.6 Less than a year ago, the 
Decree on Access was broadened to include 
administrative regulations and standards for 
state and municipal services. The Decree 
on Access extends beyond normative Acts 
and requires the publication of registers 
of licences kept by federal executive 
bodies and, importantly, details of court 
judgments invalidating governmental Acts. 

Official government web sites
In keeping with the Decree on Access, 
ministries and those agencies reporting to 
them have created web sites. As might be 
expected, the information available varies 
from site to site. The table, at the end of this 
article, sets out the web site addresses of 
various Russian ministries, several of the 
agencies reporting to each ministry and a 
brief description of the available content.

Note that the sites were reviewed only 
for the purposes of this article, and the 
summaries are based exclusively on the 
availability of legislative Acts and other 
relevant legal information. An evaluation 
of other criteria, such as interactivity with 
users, is not reviewed here; however, those 
interested can consult a report published in 
June 2009 by the Association of Managers 
in Russia containing a detailed evaluation 
of government web sites in terms of various 
criteria. A copy of this report (in Russian) is 
available from the Association’s web site.7 
Also, in keeping with the policy of expanding 
government services that are available 
electronically, a recent decree8 mandates 
even more interactivity and the possibility of 

a single government portal for access to all 
federal, regional, and municipal services and 
information. It is expected that the portal 
will be operational before the end of 2009.

Other useful web sites

In addition to these official government sites 
for legal texts and information, the following 
sites also contain other useful information 
related to business activity in Russia.

The official site for corporate registrations  �

is the Unified Government Registry of Legal 
Entities, known by its Russian acronym 
EGRUL.9 It contains general information 
about legal entities, including state and tax 
registration numbers. The site is maintained 
by the Federal Tax Service. 

Information about issuers of publicly traded  �

securities can be found on the Federal 
Service for Financial Markets’ site. News 
and press releases about issuers are also 
available.10 Copies of quarterly reports, 
information about affiliates, decisions on 
the issuance of securities, prospectuses 
and other publicly disclosed information can 
also be accessed.11

The Federal Agency of the Land Registry  �

Cadastre maintains an internet site that 
contains data on land plots and offers 
an interactive map of Russia.12 Cadastre 
numbers, designation of purpose (such 
as forestry and agriculture) and other 
information are included. Users must know 
the cadastre region in which a particular 
plot is located. From 2010, information 
on individual buildings, constructions and 
unfinished constructions should also be 
listed in the cadastre, and may become 
available on the web site. 

Court practice can result in unexpected  �

interpretations of even those legal 
provisions that may seem clear, so a review 
of statutes alone would be insufficient 
without a search of relevant court cases 
for interpretive guidance. Russian law does 
not require court cases to be published. 
Such cases are not available on executive 

6. Those regulatory Acts constitute 
the legal framework of the activity 
of the Russian government.

7. http://www.amr.ru/storage/
research/Doklad_saiti.pdf.

8. Decree No. 478 of the Russian 
government, 15 July 2009, On a 
Unified System of Information/
inquiry Support for Individuals 
and Companies in Matters of 
Interaction with State and Municipal 
Authorities through the Internet.

9. egrul.nalog.ru/fns

10. www.openinfo.ffms.ru

11. e-disclosure.fcsm.ru

12. www.kadastr.ru

http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
http://e-disclosure.fcsm.ru/
http://e-disclosure.fcsm.ru/
http://www.kadastr.ru/
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branch web sites, but can be found on the 
web site of the Higher Arbitration Court.13 
This extensive site, with a more limited but 
nonetheless informative version in both 
French and English, provides access to 
most of the Russian commercial courts’ 
decisions. In fact, some of the information 
on this site is not available even on the 
subscription-based legal databases 
discussed below.

Public non-electronic resources

For those without access to the internet and 
electronic databases, sources are limited 
but do exist. The Decree on Access has 
focused on the internet only since November 
2008, but it also requires that information 
is made available through other media.

The Law On Information, Information 
Technology and Protection of Information14 
requires that state authorities make 
information available, and provides individuals 
with the right to search.15 One can obtain 
information directly from the relevant 
ministry either in writing or by requesting 
an appointment,16 but this process may 
be time-consuming. Russian citizens 
also have the right to apply personally 
for any “favor for cooperation in the 
preservation of his constitutional rights.”17

Last but by no means least, the local 
bookstore is probably where most Russian 
citizens turn to find access to the laws and 
regulations by which they are bound. Local 
bookstores contain extensive collections 
of legislation and law-related materials. By 
their nature, such books are obsolete by 
the time they arrive on store shelves. Still, 
depending on the area of law and the date 
of the most recent major reform, such books 
can be an extraordinarily valuable resource.

Privately published electronic databases 
of legal Acts and related information

While the information available on some of 
the web sites above is reasonably thorough, 
finding the answer to a specific legal question 
would be difficult using those resources alone. 

As a result, several legal databases have 
developed that are used by both practitioners 
and members of the general public.

Garant and KonsultantPlus]
The most widely used electronic collections 
of Acts and related information are Garant18 
and KonsultantPlus.19 Both databases are 
ubiquitous in law firms and relied upon as 
research tools. KonsultantPlus was founded 
in 1992 and launched its first database 
in 1994. It now contains more than 4 
million electronic documents of federal and 
regional legislation and other information. 
Similarly, Garant dates back to 1990 and 
has more than 3 million documents on file.

The advantage of these systems is that 
they represent a thorough collection of 
Russian law. In addition to the full texts of 
Russian legislation, the databases include:

international treaties �

court decisions �

executive orders and decrees �

letters from courts and federal and local  �

authorities interpreting various provisions 
of law or addressing important issues 
where the law or court practice is vague or 
inconsistent

commentaries on the most widely used  �

codes

articles from legal and accounting  �

professional journals.

Documents are searched by number, date, 
type and other criteria, but also by text. 

While KonsultantPlus only appears in 
Russian, Garant has an English language 
version. Although not everything has been 
translated, the most important laws are 
available in English. The disadvantage is that 
the translations do not appear at the same 
time as publication of the Russian version. 
For example, the most recent amendments 
to the Law on Joint Stock Companies, which 

The most widely 
used electronic 
collections 
of Acts 
and related 
information 
are Garant and 
KonsultantPlus.

“ ”

13. www.arbitr.ru 

14. Law No. 149-FZ, 27 July 2006.

15. Article 8, Section 2 of Law No. 
149-FZ.

16. The Ministry of Justice, among 
others, posts information on how 
to ask for an appointment and 
publishes phone numbers and 
addresses for such purposes. 

17. Article 2 and Article 4 of Law 
No. 59-FZ, 2 May 2006, On the 
Review of Addresses (Applications) 
from Citizens of the Russian 
Federation.

18. www.garant.ru

19. www.consultant.ru
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introduced groundbreaking legislation on 
shareholder agreements, were still awaiting 
translation into English at the end of July 
2009, even though the law entered into force 
on 1 July 2009. The translations themselves 
vary widely in quality and occasionally 
include actual errors.20 They must always 
be checked against the Russian original.

Again, it should be mentioned that courts 
may often make an unconventional 
interpretation of the codes, so a review of 
interpretive letters and secondary legislation-
implementing statutes at various levels of 
government is critical to an understanding of 
the statutes. Without these secondary Acts, 
and in the absence of an English translation 
of professional journals where practitioners 
can share their valuable experience, a full 
understanding of the law is not possible.

Both Garant and KonsultantPlus are 
subscription-based systems to which the 
average Russian citizen will typically not have 
access.21 However, both databases maintain 
internet versions that contain information free 
of charge (that is, major laws, regulations, 
court practice and treaties)22 making them 
widely available and not limited to law firms.

Private non-electronic resources

Having the written texts of legislation rarely 
provides a complete answer to legal questions. 
Court practice ought to provide a helpful guide 
to interpretation, but is often inconsistent. 
Books have the major advantage that 
knowledgeable lawyers and legal scholars will 
include not only copies of relevant laws, but 
the critical references to supporting Acts and 
regulations and, perhaps most importantly, 
explanations of what they mean and how 
they are – and should be – interpreted.

Conclusion

Today in Russia, the computer is by far the 
best tool (and perhaps the only realistic one) 
for obtaining knowledge on the law. Such 
access takes the form of either a subscription 
to an electronic database or the judicious use 
of the internet. Russia’s current position below 
the European average for internet penetration 
seems to be temporary; an internet connection 
is rapidly becoming as indispensable for 
Russian homes and businesses as it is in the 
rest of Europe. So long as the official Russian 
policy of publishing information about the 
workings of government remains unchanged, 
the more Russians that will get online, the 
more information will be made available 
to them and the easier it will be to find.

20. For example, the English text 
of Article 11 of Law No. 164-FZ, 
29 October 1998, On Finance 
Leasing, reads “The leasing object 
transferred into the temporary 
possession and use of a lessee 
shall be the property of this lessee.” 
The Russian text states that the 
object of the lease transferred 
to the possession of the lessee 
remains the property of the 
lessor. The distinction is a very 
important one in a financial leasing 
transaction.

21. The Russian government web 
site (www.government.ru) also 
provides a limited version of Garant 
and KonsultantPlus that users 
can access free of charge. Court 
decisions and professional journals 
are among the information not 
included in this version.

22. www.garant.ru/iv.htm and www.
consultant.ru/online.
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Web sites of Government ministries and agencies providing access to legal information

Name of the ministry Web site address Comments

State Duma  
(the lower chamber of the 
Russian parliament)

www.asozd.duma.gov.ru/
main.nsf

In Russian only, this site contains the largest collection of draft laws, adopted 
legislation, texts of legislation in review, information on the status and 
protocols of all meetings of the State Duma

Russian President www.kremlin.ru In Russian and English, this site contains all major legislation and all 
Presidential decrees and other Acts

Russian government www.government.ru In Russian only, this site contains all Russian governmental documents and 
links to all Russian ministries and agencies of public service

Supreme Commercial 
Court 

www.arbitr.ru Contains the majority of Russian commercial court decisions. English version is 
limited to an overview of Russian court system and news

Constitutional Court www.ksrf.ru/Docs/Pages In Russian only, this site contains all decisions and resolutions of the Russian 
Constitutional Court

Russian Constitution www.constitution.garant.ru In Russian and English, this site is dedicated to the Russian constitutions, 
current and past, and constitutions of the Russian constituent entities

Ministry of the Interior www.mvdrf.ru A site organised in Russian, English, German and Arabic. Contains a database 
of almost 2,500 documents with a search function. Legislation is only available 
in Russian

Ministry of Emergency 
Situations 

www.mchs.gov.ru In Russian only, this site contains a database of federal and regional 
legislation. No special system of search is available, but laws are organised in 
sections according to the type of documents (federal laws, Acts of government) 
making it is easy to find the necessary document

Ministry of Foreign Affairs www.mid.ru A site organised in Russian, English, German and Spanish containing legislation 
(in Russian only) addressing issues of international concern and domestic 
immigration. Some information for foreigners is available in a language other 
than Russian

Ministry of Defence www.mil.ru This site is in Russian and English and contains a database of legislation in 
Russian. There is no search function, but the site is organised in sections

Ministry of Justice www.minjust.ru In Russian only, this site contains drafts of some pending legislation but not 
laws that are currently in force. A link to a site called the “Federal Register” 
provides access to a small database of regional legislation

Ministry of Health and 
Welfare

www.minzdravsoc.ru In Russian only, this site provides a database of legislation with a search 
function

Ministry of Culture www.mkrf.ru In Russian only, this site contains an extensive database of documents 
that extends to federal laws, administrative regulations, methodical 
recommendations and federal programmes. The documents are organised in 
sections according to their type

Ministry of Education and 
Science

www.mon.gov.ru/ The site is in Russian, and partly in English. The documents are organised in 
sections according to the type of normative Act

Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Ecology

www.mnr.gov.ru The site is in Russian and in English, with a database of documents in Russian 
(organised in sections by type of document) and extracts from legislation in 
English

The Russian version contains Acts that regulate the internal matters of the 
Ministry, methodical recommendations and draft laws. Separate sections 
address maritime activity, technical questions, independent expertise and more

Ministry of Industry  
and Trade

www.minprom.gov.ru The site is in Russian, English, Chinese and Arabic. It contains a database of 
Russian documents that includes federal laws, administrative regulations and 
other Acts related to trade and business activity. There is no search function, 
but the documents are organised in sections according to type

http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
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Web sites of Government ministries and agencies providing access to legal information

Name of the ministry Web site address Comments

Ministry of Regional 
Development

www.minregion.ru The site is only in Russian. Documents are organised in chronological order by 
year. There are also drafts of legislation in review

Ministry of Mass 
Communication

www.minsvyaz.ru In Russian only, this site contains information on federal laws relating to 
communications and their administrative regulations, information about rates, 
and more

Ministry of Agriculture www.mcx.ru In Russian only, this site contains information on agriculture-related legislation, 
different federal programmes and administrative reforms. No search function

Ministry of Sport, Tourism 
and Youth Politics

www.minstm.gov.ru The site is in Russian and English. There is a database of documents and a 
quick-find system

Ministry of Transport www.mintrans.ru In Russian only, this site contains a database of different documents and draft 
legislation, grouped according to the type of transport through the link to the 
Federal Service for transportation oversight (www.rostransnadzor.gov.ru), the 
web page of which provides a link to Garant for access to transportation-related 
laws and regulations

Ministry of Finance http://minfin.ru/ru/ The site is in Russian with a limited section in English. There is a database of 
documents, organised in sections according to different classification systems. 
There is extensive tax-related information. Links to the federal agency of 
financial monitoring, federal tax agency, federal agency of financial and budget 
supervision, federal agency of insurance supervision, and federal Treasury 

Ministry of Economical 
Development

www.economy.gov.ru The site is in Russian and English, but the English version does not contain 
any legislation. The Russian database of documents is organised in sections 
according to document type 

Ministry of Energy www.minenergo.gov.ru In Russian only, this site contains federal laws in power and energy spheres 
and related governmental documents

Bank of Russia www.cbr.ru The site is in Russian and English. There is no direct link to legislation but the 
site contains economic information and statistical data, interest rates, reserve 
ratios, information on revoking banking licences and so on

Federal Tax Service www.nalog.ru In Russian only, this site contains information on tax legislation, rights 
and duties of taxpayers, and state registration. Provides guidelines for the 
calculation of taxes and links to Garant and KonsultantPlus where access to 
laws is provided (not limited to tax laws). Access to all codes is also available 
through the KonsultantPlus link

Federal Agency for the 
Protection of Intellectual 
Property

www.faprid.ru In Russian only, this site contains treaties, orders and decrees relating to 
intellectual property and licensing and export controls

Federal Service for 
Intellectual Property, 
Patents and Trademarks

www.rupto.ru In Russian with a limited English version, contains copies of laws, information 
about trademarks and patents registration, and copies of applications. A 
search function is in the process of development

Federal Service of Finance 
Markets

www.ffms.ru The site is in Russian and English. Various sections (securitisation, inside 
information and market manipulation, regulation of corporate mergers) contain 
information in both languages but copies of actual laws are not to be found. 
There is an extensive list of supporting regulations (orders, decrees and 
informational letters) though a link to Garant.

A separate investor’s page contains specific information about issuers of 
securities (including links to issuer sites where information about the issuer is 
disclosed in accordance with the law)

http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
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Web sites of Government ministries and agencies providing access to legal information

Name of the ministry Web site address Comments

Federal Antimonopoly 
Service

http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/
finance/index.shtml

Extensive collection of competition-related laws and treaties; market 
analyses; includes information on specific sectors (that is, banking: www.
fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml); administrative regulations and 
drafts of proposed legislation. Some information in English, including English 
translations of major competition legislation

Federal State Statistics 
Service

www.gks.ru In Russian and English, the site contains extensive market and economic 
statistics. The latest information is in Russian only

http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
http://fas.gov.ru/analisys/finance/index.shtml
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Implementing the 
UNILEX database and 
applying the CISG and 
UNIDROIT principles

Introduction

Prospective foreign contractual parties may 
be deterred from entering into a mutually 
profitable transaction when the applicable 
law is not their own, due to the added risks 
and information costs involved. Even the 
stipulation of a favourable choice-of-law 
provision does not solve all the problems, 
since there may be cases where it is difficult 
to reach such an agreement. Furthermore, 
and more importantly, many domestic laws 
are somewhat outdated and not tailored 
to international commercial transactions. 

This article presents the UNILEX database 
on international case law based on the 
1980 UN Convention on Contracts for the 
International Sale of Goods (CISG)1 and 
the UNIDROIT Principles for International 
Commercial Contracts.2 The article discusses 
the importance of uniform interpretation and 
application of “hard law” instruments, such 
as CISG, as well as “soft law” codification, for 
example the UNIDROIT principles, along with 
the specific role of international case law in 
this context. Reference will also be made to 
the application of the CISG and UNIDROIT 
principles in central and eastern Europe.3 

The need for uniform interpretation 
and application of international 
commercial law instruments

One of the greatest challenges facing those 
drafting instruments on uniform law is how 
to ensure that the consensus achieved “on 
the books” becomes effective “in action”. In 
other words, the task of creating conventional 
uniform rules is far from complete following 
the successful approval and ratification of 
(or accession to) an international instrument. 
The most important test is whether the 
uniformity reached is followed by homogenous 
interpretation and application in practice.

Many well-known factors, however, may 
play a role in disrupting uniformity when a 
decision-maker is confronted with rules of 
international origin. These may include the 
different approach in interpreting statutory 
texts, as well as the influence of the domestic 
law background of the decision-maker, all 
the more so if it is a national court and not 
an international arbitral body. This was the 
reason those drafting CISG introduced Article 
7 (1), which clearly states that “in interpreting 
the Convention, regard is to be had to its 
international character and to the need to 
promote uniformity in its application…”4 

1. 1980 UN Convention on 
Contracts for the International 
Sales of Goods (CISG), entered 
into force in 1988 and has been 
by now ratified (or accessed to) by 
71 states. For the history of the 
Convention see J. Honnold (1999), 
Uniform Law for International Sales 
under the 1980 United Nations 
Convention, 3rd ed., Kluwer.

2. UNIDROIT (ed.) (2004), 
Principles for International 
Commercial Contracts, Institute 
for the Unification of Private 
Law, second enlarged ed., Rome. 
The 1st edition was published 
in 1994. On the development of 
the UNIDROIT principles see M. 
J. Bonell (2005), An International 
Restatement of Contract Law, 3rd 
Ed., Transnational Publ.

3. Belarus, Estonia, Hungary, 
Lithuania, Poland, Russia, Serbia, 
Slovak Republic and Ukraine.

4. In the ample literature on 
Art. 7 (1) see M. J. Bonell 
(1987), “Article 7”, in Bianca and 
Bonell (eds.), Commentary on 
the International Sales Law. The 
1980 Vienna Sales Convention, 
Milano, 65; J. O. Honnold (2005) 
(cited note 1), 88; more recently 
P. Schlechtriem, , “Art. 7” in 
Schlechtriem and Schwenzer (eds.), 
Commentary on the UN Convention 
on the International Sale of Goods 
(CISG), 2nd ed., Oxford University 
Press, 93; F. Ferrari (2005), “Do 
courts interpret CISG uniformly?” 
in Ferrari (ed.), Quo Vadis CISG? 
Celebrating the 25th Anniversary of 
the United Nations Convention on 
Contract for the International Sale 
of Goods, 3.

Anna Veneziano, Co-Editor in Chief, UNILEX; Professor of Comparative Private Law, 
University of Teramo, Italy. 

Treaties that introduce uniform substantive rules combined with the existence of 
international principles pursuing the same aim in the field of contract law, may 
help to improve the foreign investment climate, particularly in the EBRD’s countries 
of operations.
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This formulation has served as a model 
for subsequent conventions,5 as well 
as for other non-binding international 
instruments such as the UNIDROIT Principles 
for International Commercial Contracts,6 
and at the European level, the European 
Principles of Contract Law (PECL).7

International case law as 
“persuasive” authority

Although it is important, Article 7 is justly 
considered a general provision, indicating 
a goal to achieve rather than imposing any 
specific methods.8 The question is, therefore, 
how best to implement it in practice. Short of 
granting a supranational tribunal the power to 
decide on the correct interpretation of uniform 
law, various solutions have been envisaged. 

In the writer’s opinion, the most effective way 
to ensure a truly common understanding of 
uniform rules is that judges and arbitrators 
(as well as practising lawyers) have an 
awareness of how the same provisions have 
already been interpreted and applied in 
previous case law from different countries. 
Single decisions and consistent interpretative 
trends in different jurisdictions may well 
be considered “persuasive” authority.9 
In the words of a well-known decision 
taken by an Italian tribunal: “such foreign 
case law, contrary to what a minority of 
authorities have argued, is not binding 
on this Tribunal. It must nevertheless be 
considered in order to assure and to promote 
uniform enforcement of the United Nations 
Convention, according to its Article 7(1).”10 

While by no means bound by such judicial 
precedents, decision-makers should, under 
Article 7(1), at least refer to them and clearly 
define any differing solution.11 Certainly, 
the role of international scholarship in 
disseminating information on existing case 
law in various languages and in clarifying 
or criticising their outcome should not 
be underestimated. It may offer judges 
and arbitrators convincing arguments for 
disregarding certain previous decisions 
and starting new trends, especially where 
general clauses or unclear provisions are 

concerned. Case law as such, however, 
remains of paramount importance.

Development and structure 
of the UNILEX database 

The UNILEX database was developed under the 
direction of M. J. Bonell (first at the Center for 
Comparative Studies in Rome, and later by a 
small group of researchers) to aid the uniform 
application of CISG. UNILEX can be accessed 
on the internet, free of charge, at www.
unilex.info and mainly contains international 
case law on CISG. At the time of writing, the 
decisions came from 29 states as well as 
several different arbitral courts. Furthermore, 
it also covers the practical application of 
UNIDROIT principles (especially arbitral 
awards, but also domestic court decisions). 

Probably the most interesting feature 
of UNILEX is that a search for case law 
can be conducted not only by date and 
jurisdiction, but also by specific details 
listed under each article. This feature was 
developed initially on the basis of current 
international commentaries but later also 
took the most commonly litigated questions 
into account. Moreover, a search across a 
wide array of subject matters is possible. 

Another important aspect that singles out 
UNILEX is that each decision is provided with 
keywords in English summarising the most 
relevant legal points and is presented in an 
English abstract. This reports, with as much 
detail as possible, the facts underlying the 
decision in order to facilitate future use.12 

Lastly, there is an added feature of a list of 
bibliographical references, ordered by authors, 
articles and by specific areas of interest. It 
is possible to print all the information or 
to cut and paste it into text documents.

UNILEX’s role as an aid to the 
interpretation and application of CISG

Any discourse on Article 7(1) runs the risk 
of remaining too theoretical if no concrete 
examples are provided. A “reasoned” 
database such as UNILEX can be of practical 

5. See the 1988 Ottawa 
Conventions on International 
Financial Leasing (Art. 6 (1)) and 
International Factoring (Art. 4 
(1)); more recently the 2001 Cape 
Town Convention on International 
Interests in Mobile Equipment (Art. 
5 (1)).

6. Art. 1.6 (1) UNIDROIT principles. 
7. Art. 1:106 (1), Lando/Beale 
(eds.) (2000), Principles of 
European Contract Law, Part. II, 
Kluwer.

8. See F. Ferrari (cited note 3).

9. While the importance of taking 
the practice of other jurisdictions 
into account is well recognised 
in literature (see among others 
Bonell and Liguori (1996), “The 
UN-Convention on the International 
Sale of Goods: a critical analysis 
of current international case 
law, Uniform Law Rev. /Revue 
dr.unif., 147; 359; C. Witz (1995), 
Les premières applications 
jurisprudentielles du droit uniforme 
de la vente internationale, Paris; 
Bernstein and Lookofsky (2003), 
Understanding CISG in Europe, 
2nd ed., 32; C. Baasch-Andersen 
(2007), Uniform Application 
of the International Sales Law. 
Understanding Uniformity, the Global 
Jurisconsultorium and Examination 
and Notification Provisions of the 
CISG, 47), the most interesting 
factor is that a number of recent 
decisions have followed this route. 
See later, para. III.

10. Tribunale di Vigevano, 12 July 
2000, abstract and original full 
text in UNILEX. All other decisions 
cited in this article are to be found 
in UNILEX. The quote is, however, 
taken from the English translation 
available at the CISG web site of 
Pace University.

11. This point was also expressed 
in A. Veneziano (2003), “Uniform 
interpretation: what is being done? 
Unofficial efforts and their impact”, 
in Ferrari (ed.) The 1980 Uniform 
Sales Law. Old Issues Revisited in 
the Light of Recent Experiences, 
Sellier, 325.

12. Predictably, permission to 
publish the original text of arbitral 
awards is not easy to obtain. 
The ICC itself, however, in its 
periodical publications covers 
inter alia decisions on CISG and 
on the UNIDROIT principles, ICC 
International Court of Arbitration 
Bulletin both in English and French.

http://www.unilex.info
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help in solving some of the interpretative 
issues inevitably raised by international 
conventions in general and CISG in particular.

A few instances exist where UNILEX has 
been expressly cited as a reliable source of 
information, not only by scholars but also by 
judges and arbitrators wishing to cite foreign 
case law in order to sustain or reject an 
argument under CISG.13 UNILEX facilitates the 
search of precedents that have stressed the 
importance of an autonomous interpretation 
of CISG provisions under Article 7(1) or used 
previous foreign case law (as well as scholarly 
opinions and preparatory works), by grouping 
them together under general issues of Article 7.

Some examples may help to illustrate 
the importance of referring to previous 
case law for issues that are not explicitly 
addressed by CISG but represent 
common problems in practice:

Implied exclusion of CISG. The Convention 
allows parties to exclude its application 
(which is otherwise automatic if the territorial 
and substantive requirements of Articles 1-5 
are met). Although not expressly mentioned 
in CISG, an implied exclusion by means of 
indirect language is considered to be effective. 
A quick search in UNILEX under Article 1, 

“choice of the law of a Contracting State as 
governing law of contract” (or a search by 
the topic “implied exclusion”), however, will 
alert decision-makers and lawyers that the 
overwhelming majority of cases from various 
jurisdictions do not consider the choice of 
the law of a member State (either in the 
contract or in the procedural documents) as 
sufficient in itself to exclude the application 
of the Convention.14 Typically, anything 
short of an express exclusion would not be 
accepted. This may be useful information both 
in litigation and in drafting the contract.15

Distributorship agreements. Another common 
problem concerns the meaning of “contract of 
sale” under CISG. In particular, are framework 
distribution agreements covered by the 
Convention? Again, UNILEX makes things 
easier by expressly listing “distributorship 
agreements” under Article 1. The vast majority 

of decisions deny application of CISG to the 
distributorship agreement while upholding it 
for any subsequent sale contract concluded 
on its bases,16 except when the framework 
contract contains specific sales provisions.17

Other interpretative issues in CISG are 
certainly less easy to solve, especially 
when the application of general clauses is 
concerned: “reasonableness of time” for 
notice of non-conformity by the buyer (Article 
39(1) CISG) or “fundamental” character of the 
breach leading to the right to avoid (terminate) 
the contract (Article 25 CISG). General clauses 
are a clear indication that those drafting the 
Convention wished to leave certain discretion 
to judges. This is where the inclusion of 
bibliographical references in UNILEX reveals its 
importance, since the guidance of scholarship 
is needed. Knowledge of international 
judicial trends remains, however, essential. 
Concerning Article 39 (1) CISG, for example, 
it underscores the close link between the 
duty to examine the goods and that to notify 
the non-conformity, and points out the need 
to consider the circumstances of the case 
(type of goods, type of non-conformity). Even 
more interestingly, it shows that the vast 
majority of cases are decided not on such 
questions but on the buyer’s failure to meet 
the burden of proving either the non-conformity 
or the notice within reasonable time.

Further, there are a number of provisions 
in CISG which have proven unsatisfactory 
in practice.18 A look at the decisions 
under Articles 46 and 48 of CISG, for 
example, reveal how difficult it is to apply 
the rules to remedy non-conformity and 
to determine the relationship between 
the buyer’s remedy and the right of the 
seller to amend non-performance.

Lastly, judicial precedents are instrumental 
in pointing out the most disturbing gaps in 
the Convention: among others, the lack of 
rules on standard terms or on the limitation 
of action (prescription). In isolated instances, 
courts have even reached reasonable 
solutions by applying purported general 
principles of CISG to solve such matters.19 
This should prompt parties to use express 

13. In the words of a United States 
District Court judge, “[t]hat decision 
and the other foreign decisions 
cited in this opinion have not been 
translated into English and, as 
a result, cannot be cited directly 
by this Court. Instead, this Court 
relies upon the detailed abstracts 
of those decisions provided by 
UNILEX, an “intelligent database” 
of international case law on the 
CISG. All of the abstracts cited 
therein are available at www.unilex.
info”: U.S. District Court, North. 
District, Illinois, East. Div., 21 May 
2004, Chicago Prime Packers, Inc, 
v. Northam Food Trading Co. This 
decision was confirmed by U.S. 
Court of Appeals (7th Circuit), 23 
May 2005.

14. For example, U.S. District 
Court, New Jersey, 15 June 2005, 
Valero Marketing v. Greeni Oy; U.S. 
District Court, Northern District 
of Illinois, Eastern Division, 29 
January 2003, Ajax Tool Works, Inc. 
v. Can-Eng Manufacturing Ltd; ICC 
Arbitral Award (2004), No. 12,460; 
Oberster Gerichtshof (Austrian 
Supreme Court), Ob 77/01g, 22 
October 2001; Bundesgerichtshof 
(German Supreme Court), VIII ZR 
259/97, 25 November 1998; Cour 
de Cassation (French Supreme 
Court), 17 December 1996. It may 
be interesting to note that the 
same conclusion was reached by 
the Supreme Commercial Courts 
in two of the EBRD’s countries of 
operations: Supreme Commercial 
Court of Ukraine, 11 December 
2007, No. 44/69; Supreme 
Economic Court of Belarus, 20 
May 2003, Numbers. 7-5 and 8-5, 
2003.

15. It must be borne in mind that 
typically, CISG applies to informal or 
semi-formal contracts rather than 
to heavily negotiated agreements.

16. For example, Cour de Cassation 
(com), 20 February 2007; U.S. 
District Court, Southern District 
of New York, 1 June 2006, Multi-
Juice,S.A. v. Snapple Beverage Corp; 
Oberster Gerichtshof, 5 Ob 45/05m, 
21 June 2005; Bundesgerichtshof 
III ZR 237/02, 30 April 2003; 
Obergericht Kanton Luzern 
(Switzerland), 8 January 1997;  
According to one arbitral case, 
parties may decide to apply CISG: 
ICC Arbitral Award No. 11,849.

17. Supreme Court of Poland, III CSK 
103/05, 27 January 2006; U.S. 
District Court, E.D., Pennsylvania, 29 
August 2000, Viva Vino Import Corp. 
v. Farnese Vini S.r.l.

18. For a recent review of 
unsatisfactory and/or “aged” 
provisions in CISG and the 
importance of further development 
by case law see O. Mayer (2009), 
“Constructive interpretation-
Applying the CISG in the 21st 
century”, in A. Janssen and O. 
Mayer (eds.), CISG Methodology, 
Sellier, 319, at 322.

19. See for example, 
Bundesgerichtshof VIII ZR 304/00, 
9 January 2002, where the court 
applies the “knock-out rule” to the 
problem of the battle of the forms 
by reference to good faith as a 
general principle in CISG.

www.unilex.info
www.unilex.info
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language in the contract or to make reference 
to other instruments which provide a better 
answer to the abovementioned obscurity 
and gaps, such as the UNIDROIT principles.

UNILEX’s impact on the practical 
application of the UNIDROIT principles

Perhaps the most original feature of 
UNILEX is that it covers both CISG and the 
UNIDROIT principles. So far as the latter 
are concerned, in fact, it represents the 
only complete database on case law and 
bibliography. As is well known, the UNIDROIT 
principles are a set of non-binding rules of 
doctrinal origin applicable to international 
commercial contracts. In the case of a “soft 
law” instrument such as this, the importance 
of monitoring its practical application is 
even more relevant than where uniform 
binding rules are concerned. Not only does 
it permit the gathering of information on 
the interpretation of single provisions; more 
importantly, it shows the effective acceptance 
of the persuasive rules in practice.20 

To this end, the preamble to the UNIDROIT 
principles, indicating how they should be 
used, is followed in UNILEX by a detailed list 
of issues concerning the ways in which the 
principles can be applied in practice as: 

governing rules of law of the contract  �

expressly chosen by the parties, further 
specifying whether the decision-maker is a 
domestic court or an arbitral body

a source of “general principles of law”, the  �

lex mercatoria or the like

a means of interpreting and supplementing  �

international uniform law

a means of interpreting and supplementing  �

domestic law.

One example is of special interest in this 
context. According to the preamble, the 
Principles “may be used to interpret or 
supplement international uniform law 
instruments”.21 A search for case law 
in UNILEX shows that the overwhelming 

majority of cases involve the relationship 
between the principles and CISG. The 
opinion of scholars on the legitimacy of 
using the UNIDROIT principles to interpret 
and/or fill the gaps of CISG is divided.22 

Reference to the relevant issue in UNILEX 
allows the searcher to find a certain number of 
arbitral cases where CISG and the UNIDROIT 
principles have been referred to together, 
although parties had not expressly chosen 
the latter as the governing rules of law of their 
contract. Significantly, such decisions do not 
address the vexed theoretical question of 
legitimacy but more practically, it was seen 
to be useful to apply both in order to have a 
more solid justification for the given solution.23

Decisions on CISG and the 
UNIDROIT principles in the EBRD’s 
countries of operations

At first glance, the number of published 
decisions on CISG issued in the EBRD’s 
countries of operations may seem inferior 
to expectations, since the Convention has 
by now been ratified, accessed or accepted 
by succession in the great majority of such 
states.24 There are various reasons for the 
limited practical application of CISG: in 
some instances, the recent adoption or 
notification of succession; in others, the lack 
of awareness, information and/or interest 
of the business community and practising 
lawyers or the tendency to indiscriminately 
exclude the Convention.25 Nevertheless, we 
already find a number of decisions rendered 
by Supreme Courts;26 moreover, CISG was 
applied by the Arbitration Courts attached 
to the national Chambers of Commerce.27

Among recent cases, the most interesting 
in this context are the ones where courts 
endeavoured to interpret CISG autonomously 
and to fill the gaps by referring to its general 
principles or to non-binding codifications 
such as the UNIDROIT principles and, less 
frequently, the PECL.

The Polish Supreme Court, for example, in a 
dispute involving the sale of a specific type 
of leather for shoes by a Polish supplier to 

20. “[W]hat really matters is not 
so much [the definition of the 
UNIDROIT principles] in theoretical 
terms but rather whether, and 
the extent to which, they may be 
applied in practice in lieu of or 
in addition to domestic law”: M. 
J. Bonell (2000), “The UNIDROIT 
principles and transnational law”, 
Unif.L.R./Rev.dr.unif. 

21. Preamble, para.5.

22. Contrary for example, F. 
Sabourin (1999), “Quebec”, in 
Bonell (ed.), A New Approach 
to International Commercial 
Contracts, Kluwer, 245; R. 
Herber, “<Lex Mercatoria> und 
<Principles>: gefährliche Irrlichter 
im internationalen Kaufrecht”, 
Internationales Handelsrecht 
(2003), 1; Favourable for example, 
A. M. Garro (1995), “The gap-filling 
role of the UNIDROIT principles 
in international sales law”, 69 
Tulane L.R., 1149; M. J. Bonell 
(1996), “The UNIDROIT principles 
of International Commercial 
Contracts and CISG - Alternatives 
or complementary instruments?” 
in Unif. Law Rev./Revue dr. unif.; 
J. Basedow (2000) “Uniform law 
conventions and the UNIDROIT 
principles of International 
Commercial Contracts”, Unif.L.R./
Revue dr.unif, 129 (giving examples 
relating to other international 
Conventions).

23. See among others ICC Arbitral 
Award, December 1997, No. 8,817, 
on the subject matters of usages 
and mitigation of damages: the 
Tribunal stated that it would apply 
CISG “and its general principles, 
now contained in the UNIDROIT 
principles”; ICC Arbitral Award, 
March 1998, No. 9,117, on merger 
clauses, written modification 
clauses and contract interpretation: 
in applying CISG the Tribunal 
considered it “informative” to 
refer to the UNIDROIT principles, 
“because they are said to reflect a 
world-wide consensus in most of 
the basic matters of contract law”. 
Other examples are provided below, 
para. VI. See also M. J. Bonell, An 
International Restatement, cited 
note 2.

24. The date of entry into force 
of the Convention will be given: 
Albania 1 June 2010; Armenia 1 
January 2010; Belarus 1 November 
1990; Bosnia and Herzegovina 6 
March 1992; Bulgaria 1 August 
1991; Croatia 8 October 1991 
(notification of succession to the 
Yugoslavian Republic in 1998); 
Czech Republic 1 January 1993; 
Estonia 1 October 1994; FYR 
Macedonia 17 November 1991 
(notification in 2006); Georgia 
16 August 1994; Hungary 1 
January 1988; Kyrgyz Republic 
1 June 2000; Latvia 1 August 
1998; Lithuania 1 February 
1996; Moldova 1 November 
1995; Mongolia 1 January 
1999; Montenegro 3 June 2006 
(notification 23 October 2006); 
Poland 1 June 1996; Romania 1 
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a German buyer, held that the remedy of 
suspension of performance by the 
non-breaching party should be considered 
a general one and not only specific for the 
case of anticipatory breach (as provided in 
Article 7(1) CISG).28 In reaching this conclusion 
it cited an opinion rendered by the CISG 
Advisory Council, an independent body of 
scholars created with the aim of assisting 
decision-makers in the interpretation of 
CISG, taking case law into account.29

Other decision-makers have openly referred 
to the UNIDROIT principles in order to 
interpret or fill in the gaps of the Convention. 
A recent award of the Foreign Trade Court of 
Arbitration attached to the Serbian Chamber 
of Commerce, for example, in a case involving 
sugar sold from a Serbian company to 
an Italian buyer, stated that “considering 
that, absent the adequate provisions of the 
substantive law chosen by the parties, both 
the Principles and UML on the International 
Transfer of Funds can provide more up-to-date 
and modern solutions for the dispute at hand, 
that they ‘determine the general principles for 
international commercial contracts…they may 
be used for interpreting and complementing 
the international unified rules…’ as well as for 
‘interpreting and complementing the provisions 
of national law’, [it] strongly supports the 
application of the abovementioned Principles 
in this dispute – as lex mercatoria”.30

Lastly, concerning the application of the 
UNIDROIT principles, of particular interest 
are the decisions that testify their role in 

“interpreting domestic law” and in “serving 
as a model for national legislation”. For 
example, a resolution rendered by the 
Polish Supreme Court on whether under 
Polish law a contractually stipulated penalty 
must be paid even where the creditor has 
suffered no loss, stated that the debtor is 
not released from paying it even if it can 
prove that the creditor has not suffered 
any damage, and in this context expressly 
referred to the UNIDROIT principles (Article 
7.4.13).31 Further, in a dispute between two 
Lithuanian parties concerning the bidding 
procedure for a construction contract, the 
Lithuanian Supreme Court referred to the 
UNIDROIT principles in order to interpret 
Article 6.163 of the Lithuanian Civil Code,32 
a provision clearly influenced by international 
rules such as the Principles themselves.

June 1992; Serbia 27 April 1992 
(notification in 2001); Slovak 
Republic 1 January 1993; Slovenia 
25 June 1991; Ukraine 10 February 
1991; Uzbekistan 1 Dec 1997.

25. See M. Baretić and S. Nikšić 
(2008), “Croatia”, in F. Ferrari (ed.), 
The CISG and its Impact on National 
Legal Systems, Sellier , 94. The two 
elements may well be connected, 
as shown by D. Možina, “Slovenia”, 
in F. Ferrari (ed.), cited above, 266.

26. Supreme Court of Hungary, 
25 September 1992, No. 
349/1992/9; Supreme Court of 
Poland, 11 November 2007, No. 
V CSK 456/06 (see below note 
27 and accompanying text), 27 
January 2006, No. III CSK 103/05 
(cited note 16), Supreme Court of 
Slovakia, 12 November 2008, No. 
3 Obo 194/2007; 3 April 2008, 
No. 6 Obo 120/2007; Supreme 
Commercial Court of Ukraine, 11 
December 2007, No. 44/69 and 
Supreme Economic Court of Belarus,  
20 May 2003, No. 7-5/2003 (both 
cited note 13).

27. Foreign Trade Court of 
Arbitration attached to the Serbian 
Chamber of Commerce, 23 January 
2008, No. T-9/07 (on remedies 
for non-performance and rate of 
interest); Bulgarian Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, 24 April 
1996, No. 56/1995; 12 February 
1998, No. 11/1996; 16 December 
1998, No. 59/1995 (on exemption 
from performance and notion of 
force majeure).

28. Supreme Court of Poland, 11 
November 2007, cited note 25. 

29. AC Opinion No. 5, “The buyer’s 
right to avoid the contract in 
case of non-conforming goods 
or documents”, 7 May 2005, 
published online at www.cisgac.
com.

30. Foreign Trade Court of 
Arbitration attached to the Serbian 
Chamber of Commerce, 23 January 
2008, cited note 26. Other 
interesting examples are Supreme 
Economic Court of Belarus, 20 
May 2005, cited note 13 and 
Commercial Court of Brest Region 
(Belarus), 8 November 2006 (rate 
of interest under Art. 78 determined 
by the applicable domestic law - Art 
1093 (1) of Civil Code of Belarus 
provides application of international 
usages in contracts with foreign 
elements if they do not contravene 
the law of Belarus – reference 
to the full text of Art 7.4.9 of the 
UNIDROIT principles).

31. Supreme Court of Poland, 6 
November 2003, No. III CZP 61/03.

32. Supreme Court of Lithuania, 
6 November 2006, No. 3K-P-
382/2006.

www.unilex.info
www.unilex.info
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33. Among the online databases 
see in particular the ample web 
site on CISG of the Pace University 
led by Kritzer, at www.pace.edu. Of 
great importance in disseminating 
knowledge on foreign case law 
relating to CISG in different 
languages are periodical reports 
with comments, for example, by 
C. Witz in Recueil Dalloz, B. Piltz 
(most recently in Neue Juristische 
Wochenschrift (2009)), F. Ferrari 
in Rev. de droit des affaires int./
Int.Business L.J.. On the CISG 
Advisory Council see note 28 and 
accompanying text. On initiatives 
taken by UNCITRAL see Ph. De 
Ly, “Uniform interpretation: what 
is being done? Official efforts”, in 
Ferrari (ed.) The 1980 Uniform Sales 
Law (cited note 10) 335.

Conclusion

It is important to take judicial precedents into 
account to ensure uniform interpretation and 
application of international commercial law 
instruments. It is the opinion of the author 
that Article 7(1) of the CISG and similar 
provisions require judges or arbitrators to 
make reference to previous international 
case-law; while such precedents are not 
technically binding, an adequate justification 
at least should be given when choosing an 
interpretation which is contrary to a consistent 
trend of previous judicial decisions.

In any case, the practical utility of information 
on judicial precedents cannot be denied, 
both when a controversy arises and when 
drafting agreements or standard terms. 
UNILEX on CISG and on the UNIDROIT 
principles is certainly not the only reliable 
source of such information, especially where 
the Convention is concerned.33 Moreover, 
the importance of scholarly guidance in 
interpreting judicial trends has to be stressed. 

By virtue of its specific characteristics, 
however, UNILEX has proved itself particularly 
valuable. Thus, it may constitute an interesting 
point of reference for other uniform law 
instruments. Take the example of the 
model laws – especially useful in regional 
harmonisation as shown by the activity of 
the EBRD: in spite of their peculiarities, their 
practical application would benefit from 
disseminating knowledge not only on the 
adoption of (and changes to) the original 
text but also on case law. UNILEX only 
allows a search in English (although some 
domestic law concepts are also included). 
This does not diminish the value of creating 

“reasoned” databases on judicial trends for 
instruments in specialised areas where the 
legal vocabulary is necessarily circumscribed. 

The conclusion is that UNILEX has already 
proved itself to be one of the most useful 
tools for scholars and practitioners alike – 
although certainly not the only one available 

– and could well provide an example for 
other areas of uniform commercial law.
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The Albanian judicial 
system and access to 
legal information

During the 20th century Albania suffered 
for more than 40 years under the most rigid 
and oppressive regime in Europe. Despite 
remarkable progress towards a democratic 
society based on fundamental rights and due 
process of law, it is still a country in transition. 
Albania is undoubtedly a “maturing” country 
but not mature in terms of EU standards.

One of the fundamental elements of the 
Stabilisation and Association Agreement 
(SAA)1 that entered into force on 1 April 
2009 is “to support the efforts of Albania to 
strengthen democracy and the rule of law”; 
this can only be achieved by raising awareness 
of the importance of the law and its 
accompanying and necessary legal institutions.

However, the judicial system presents many 
challenges for reformers, and despite talk 
of reform and a number of new or amended 
laws, many old habits remain, namely:

slow court proceedings �

a lack of professionalism and discipline �

belated or failing implementation of legal  �

regulations

conflicting and sometimes arbitrary legal  �

interpretations

a lack of coherence and consistency in the  �

law itself and in its application. 

Unfortunately the endemic corruption that 
affects many sectors of society, such as 
the education and health systems, is also 
well known in the justice system. It seriously 
reduces public confidence in its proper and 
fair functioning. Furthermore, the courts and 
prosecutor’s offices suffer from political 
pressure and interference which, in significant 
cases, infringes judicial independence. 

In such a climate, conformist attitudes prevail 
and there is a lack of courage to reform, but 
there have been signs of increasing self-
confidence, a rising sense of independence 
and adherence to the rule of law, particularly 
among the younger generation of judges who 
are less affected by the totalitarian past. 

The EURALIUS project

It is in this environment that the European 
Assistance Mission to the Justice System 
in Albania (EURALIUS), an EU-funded 
project under the Community Assistance 
for Reconstruction, Development and 
Stabilisation (CARDS) programme,2 has 
been working since 2005. It aims to aid the 
development of a more independent, impartial, 
efficient, professional and transparent 
justice system in Albania, as required by 
the SAA with the European Union.3 

Unlike more narrowly focused international 
assistance projects of usually shorter duration, 
such as the twinning of an EU member 

1. http://ec.europa.eu/
enlargement/pdf/albania/
st08164.06_en.pdf

2. http://ec.europa.eu/
enlargement/how-does-it-work/
financial-assistance/cards/

3. http://ec.europa.eu/
enlargement/pdf/albania/
st08164.06_en.pdf

Roland Miklau, EURALIUS Project Team Leader

This article examines the work of an EU-funded project that is seeking to 
develop the justice system in Albania. The author looks at some of the inherent 
challenges faced by the judiciary, the impact this has on the public and how public 
perceptions can be improved and overcome, partly with the implementation of IT 
systems. 
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state with a country undergoing transition 
in specific legal fields, EURALIUS offers 
broad support to all areas of the judicial 
system. This support covers law drafting, 
court administration, case management, 
enforcement, budget management, criminal 
justice, prison standards and management 
of immovable property problems.4

Drawing mainly on the work of international 
(and some Albanian) legal experts, EURALIUS 
provides analytical reports, studies, proposals, 
recommendations (for example, on judicial 
reform and budget planning), cooperation 
through working groups and comments on 
draft laws and regulations. It also organises 
training courses, roundtable discussions 
and conferences, as well as study visits to 
EU member states. To deliver this support 
effectively, EURALIUS requires continuous 
contact with the relevant stakeholders in the 
judicial system and must be ready to respond 
to problems, requests for information (such 
as successful “European models” and issues 
of comparative law), opinions and help.

Access to legal information, legal advice, 
dispute resolution and the enforcement of 
legal claims and rights in a country such 
as Albania are all hampered by numerous 
obstacles. Despite attempts to codify the 
Albanian legal system after the country 
declared independence from the Ottoman 
Empire in 1912, it remained largely 
undeveloped under communist rule; there 
was not even a Ministry of Justice for many 
years and lawyers were forbidden to practise.

After 1991 the judicial system was exposed 
to a variety of internal and external influences. 
Norms and regulations were changed 
frequently and were often far from consistent 
and without sound structural principles. 
Many laws were not well prepared, driven 
by ad hoc necessities and wishes and 
sometimes short-lived political objectives.

Even today, a sound and all-inclusive 
justice reform strategy and a consensus 
on objectives are still lacking. Some legal 
proposals are still exposed to a “hidden 
agenda” of power games and undue 
influence and pressure from officials within 
central government. The existence of flaws, 
particularly in legal drafting and judicial 
administration, can only be attributed to a 
civil service that often lacks professionalism 
and initiative, and is hindered by a lack of 
status security (that is, security of the status 
of a civil servant), by frequent changes 
in personnel, understaffing, inadequate 
salaries and overriding political paternalism.

Preparing legislation and 
access to case law

Faced with such an environment, the Albanian 
judicial system needs external professional 
help but it is difficult for external parties to 
provide this appropriately and effectively. To 
this end, EURALIUS has developed a Law 
Drafting Manual5 (based on an earlier version 
produced jointly by the Council of Europe and 
the EC Delegation in Albania) with an annex 
on the approximation of the legal order to the 

4. These problems concern 
registration, restitution, 
compensation and legalisation 
of houses constructed without 
legal permission and/or on 
another person’s property. 

5. www.euralius.org.al/
reccomendations/eng/17.
Law_Drafting_Manual_eng.pdf

6. This is a process whereby 
domestic legislation is analysed 
and aligned with the laws 
of the European Union.

The EURALIUS Team
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acquis communautaire.6 The manual is used to 
train civil servants and serves as a handbook 
for law drafters in government ministries. 
EURALIUS is currently publishing a collection 
of all (multilateral and bilateral) international 
treaties ratified by Albania. This will also 
be distributed in CD format to all judges, 
prosecutors and other interested parties.

Access to legal information must first be 
safeguarded for those who have to apply the 
law themselves. Albania was eager to sign 
and ratify a large number of international 
agreements, often quicker than most other 
nations, but did not follow up with appropriate 
implementation measures. Sometimes 
even correct translations into Albanian 
were missing. As a result, the application 
of treaty regulations in Albania is far behind 
that of other comparable states. EURALIUS 
hopes to close this “information gap”.

Furthermore, lawmakers pay insufficient 
attention to the implementation of new 
legislation. Subordinate Acts are either 
missing or late, and practitioners are not 
trained adequately on the underlying ideas 
and objectives of new or amended legislation.

But it is not always a lack of will or 
carelessness that is responsible for such 
shortcomings. Scarce human and financial 
resources and professional inadequacies 
tend to increase the already wide gap 
between the intentions of the lawmakers 
and the reality of implementing new laws. 
Sometimes projects like EURALIUS can 
substitute these shortcomings by convening 
a roundtable or by contacting judges and 
prosecutors in various regions of the 
country and discussing problems with them 

– thereby motivating participation in reform 
processes and boosting self-confidence.

Access to, and use of, legal information 
could also be improved if the drafting of new 
laws and regulations were more inclusive. It 
is not yet common practice in Albania for 
regular consultation procedures – by way of 
working groups or written comments from 
interested parties – to form a prerequisite 

for enhancing the quality, acceptance and 
practicability of new laws, although there 
has been some progress in that direction. 
By involving those who will be applying 
new rules (in the judicial system, this is 
primarily the courts) in the processes of 
policy deliberation and text preparation, 
law drafting can be improved considerably 
and a smooth implementation ensured. 

However, despite some improvements there is 
still a lack of time for consultations, disregard 
for open discussions on policy options, and 
an inability to cope with the proper integration 
of policy or technical comments when 
revising draft texts. It is also striking how 
rarely academics contribute to law drafting 
and legal training in Albania, unlike in other 
countries where legal reforms often result 
from ongoing dialogue between lawmakers 
and their preparatory bodies, judicial and 
administrative practitioners and academics.

To improve court administration and case 
management, information technology is crucial. 
Therefore the European Commission is eager 
to subsidise the introduction of an Integrated 
Case Management and Information System 
(ICMIS) in the Albanian courts. The system not 
only enables courts to properly manage cases, 
with internet access for all judges, but also 
provides online availability of leading court 
rulings, primarily High Court decisions. In any 
legal system, access to information about 
case law is vital for the courts, professional 
education institutions, practising lawyers and 
commercial companies. And if the judicial 
system has proper and adequate access to 
legal information, this can be seen as a step 
towards the general public gaining access too. 

Registering and recording 
property rights

The Albanian government, assisted by 
international donors such as the World 
Bank, USAID and the European Commission, 
has taken steps to introduce and develop 
public registers, such as a National 
Registration Centre for commercial firms 
and regional immovable property offices. 

To improve 
court 
administration 
and case 
management, 
information 
technology 
is crucial.

“ ”
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However, these offices face a difficult situation 
regarding land ownership in Albania. As in 
many other transition countries, the restitution 
or compensation of former owners who 
have been expropriated by the communist 
regime is a sensitive issue. In Albania, many 
houses and other buildings were constructed 
not only without legal permission but also 
on land plots and parcels (defined areas 
of land) belonging to other people or with 
unclear ownership. Imprecise cadastres, 
overlapping ownership and forged documents 
– notwithstanding the considerable corruption 
risks – add to a complicated situation that 
has not been clarified in many respects. 

Consecutive governments have taken a 
series of legislative steps for the restitution/
compensation of property and the legalisation 
of buildings (and the land plots on which 
they were built), although some of those 
Acts have somewhat added to the confusion 
rather than solving open issues. Property 
conflicts create a heavy work load for 
administrative bodies and the courts, and 
sometimes they give rise to bloody personal 
conflicts. Not even the first registration of 
immovable property has been finalised. 

This lack of clarity over land ownership is a 
serious obstacle to investment, particularly 
from foreign companies interested in doing 
business in Albania, and to the development 
of tourism. In addition, a number of former 
land owners who held property in the pre-
communist era have submitted complaints to 
the European Court of Human Rights regarding 
the restitution of property rights, with good 
prospects of receiving compensation.7 The 
EURALIUS project – aware that this matter 
involves extremely sensitive political issues 

– analysed the legal situation and initiated a 
discussion among key stakeholders, namely 
a legal dialogue with experts of the European 
Court of Human Rights. It will undoubtedly 
take many more years to bridge the gaps that 
exist between the reality of acquired asset 
holders and legitimate ownership rights.

A sound legal framework 
and a strong economy

Albania, having been one of the poorest 
countries in Europe, has made remarkable 
economic progress in recent years, which has 
led to a moderate increase in living standards 
in the country. However, unemployment 
is still high and much of the business 
activity is still “informal”. Even a flat tax 
rate of 10 per cent, introduced in 2008, did 
not significantly improve this situation.

So, for legitimate business and trans-
border investments to flourish, a secure and 
transparent legal framework is needed. This 
includes a professional and fair organisation of 
administrative justice that gives administrative 
bodies the power to adjudicate matters within 
their area of authority. This is important 
given that the judiciary has the final word in 
most administrative matters conducted by 
the administrative authorities. At present, 
administrative disputes at this final stage are 
adjudicated under the Code of Civil Procedure 
by ordinary courts and judges who are not 
particularly specialised in these matters. 
Reforms that aim to establish a separate and 
specialised administrative court structure 
and to adopt a modern code of administrative 
justice had almost made it through parliament 
when the national elections took place in 
June 2009. The reforms will undoubtedly be 
taken up again by the new government.

Legal education, judicial training 
and enforcement of court rulings

The quality of a legal system depends not 
only on well-drafted and well-implemented 
laws and regulations, but also on the 
members of the legal profession being 
well educated and trained in order to apply 
the law professionally. In Albania, due to a 
serious lack of well-trained lawyers after the 
fall of communism, and to quickly fill the 
ranks of the judiciary and practising lawyers, 
short (sixth-month) courses were organised, 
replacing ordinary university education and 
specialised legal training. It was not until 
1999 that a School of Magistrates was set 
up to provide training for university graduates 

For legitimate 
business and 
trans-border 
investments 
to flourish, a 
secure and 
transparent 
legal framework 
is needed.

“ ”

7. See examples of case 
law at http://ius.info/EUII/
EUCHR/dokumenti/2007/11/
CASE_OF_DRIZA_v._
ALBANIA_13_11_2007.html.
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and to prepare them for work as judges and 
prosecutors. The school is well respected 
and is performing its task successfully.  

However, most members of the judiciary 
and of the prosecutor’s offices have either 
been performing such functions under 
the “old regime” (and therefore with little 
training) or are stigmatised as “sixth-month 
judges”. All too often, court proceedings in 
Albania are slow and hearings postponed 
and protracted, mainly because of a serious 
lack of discipline by lawyers, who much too 
often simply do not show up at hearings 
and trials. Disciplinary proceedings, which 
would have to be initiated by the Chamber 
of Advocates against lawyers who fail to 
fulfil their professional obligations, are not 
conducted. In fact, the courts do not have any 
effective sanctions available in such cases. 

Judicial rulings in civil matters require either 
willingness by the parties to comply or 
effective enforcement procedures. The latter 
often do not function properly in Albania. The 
Ministry of Justice, assisted by EURALIUS and 
an Austrian twinning project on commercial 
matters, initiated a major reform by introducing 
private enforcement agents along with the 
existing public enforcement service, aiming 
at more efficiency and speedier procedures 
(a “double-track system” that has also existed 
in Bulgaria since 2007). The respective 
laws were adopted before the end of 2008 
and are now in force but they are yet to be 
implemented. This would require training, a 
new fee system and an IT system to coordinate 
enforcement endeavours by different agents.

Legal aid and access to courts

Another area in which the Albanian legislature 
has taken action recently is legal aid for 
low-income litigants and defendants. Until 
now, legal aid has been provided to a limited 
extent in criminal matters only, thanks partly 
to the activities of an NGO, the Citizens 
Advocacy Organization (CAO). The new law 
provides financing for a certain level of legal 
aid in both criminal and civil procedures, 
although it is not yet fully in line with European 
standards, in particular for lack of budgetary 

means. Nevertheless, it represents an 
important step forward. Without access to 
legal information and representation, neither 
the realisation of legitimate claims nor the 
defence against illegitimate demands by 
others are secured. It must be noted, though, 
that the debtors most frequently sued and 
most frequently violating their obligations to 
comply with court judgments in Albania are 
the state and public entities themselves. 

Conclusion

It is hardly surprising that Albanians have 
limited confidence in public institutions, 
the judicial system and the rule of law. 
Court proceedings are slow, there is a 
lack of professionalism and discipline, 
laws are poorly implemented, corruption 
is widespread and there is continued 
political influence in judicial matters. 

Access to legal information by the general 
public and transparency are certainly basic 
requirements of a democratic state, and 
the notions of access to law or access to 
justice are even broader. To safeguard a 
sound and sustainable relationship between 
the citizen and the state, based on trust 
in the courts and other public authorities, 
more effort to reform the legal system is 
required. International donors and projects 
can contribute, but the core of the work must 
be carried out by the state and its leadership.
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Croatia: EU accession 
enhances public 
sector transparency

Introduction

Recognising the importance of information 
technology (IT), the Croatian government has, 
over the past five years, adopted a number 
of initiatives and corresponding laws aimed 
at developing an information society. In that 
context, the Central State Administrative 
Office for e-Croatia was formed, a number 
of government services have been offered 
online and several online databases of 
court precedents have been introduced.

However, despite these ambitious efforts, 
according to the Global Information Technology 
Report 2008-2009 published by the World 
Economic Forum, Croatia is still lagging 
behind in its usage of IT in public, state 
administration processes and services.1 
So, to further develop information and 
communication technology (ICT), more 
needs to be done to raise awareness and 
understanding of the information society, 
and to engender commitment across all 
sectors of the economy and society.

For the public to take full advantage of the 
government’s initiatives, access to the internet 
needs to be full and widespread. According 
to The Global Information Technology Report, 
in 2007, 43.8 per cent of Croatians had 
access to the internet, internet bandwidth 
per 10,000 people was 25.26 megabytes 

per second, and Croatia was ranked 49th in 
the Network Readiness Index.2 These figures, 
compared with the top 10 performers,3 
demonstrate that Croatia still has further 
challenges in the development of ICT.

The chart is based on the Networked 
Readiness Index (NRI). It shows the 
degree of readiness of individuals, 
business and the government in Croatia 
to participate in and benefit from ICT, 
in comparison with actual usage. 

The results shown draw on key figures, such 
as internet users per 100 people, internet 
bandwidth measured in megabytes per 

1. See World Economic Forum: 
The Global Information Technology 
Report 2008-2009, available 
at: http://www.weforum.org/
en/initiatives/gcp/Global%20
Information%20Technology%20
Report/index.htm, last 
visited on 27 April 2009.

2 The Global Information 
Technology Report 
2008-2009, p. 179.

3. For example, in Denmark, which 
ranked first, 64.31 per cent of 
the population have access 
to the internet, and internet 
bandwidth per 10,000 people 
is 346 megabytes per second.

Jelena Madir, Counsel, EBRD

Chart 1: ICT development in Croatia
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Note: The ranking is based on percentages and on 
comparisons with other countries in the survey. 

As the legislative body of a country that was awarded EU candidate status in 2004, 
the Croatian parliament has been busy modifying Croatia’s laws and harmonising 
them with EU legislation. Integration and ultimate membership into the European 
Union, through adoption of European standards, is now a significant challenge. 

http://www.weforum.org/en/initiatives/gcp/Global Information Technology Report/index.htm
http://www.weforum.org/en/initiatives/gcp/Global Information Technology Report/index.htm
http://www.weforum.org/en/initiatives/gcp/Global Information Technology Report/index.htm
http://www.weforum.org/en/initiatives/gcp/Global Information Technology Report/index.htm
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second per 10,000 people, mobile telephone 
subscribers per 100 people, availability of 
government online services and the extent of 
internet use in the workplace. 

The NRI was developed by INSEAD 
Graduate Business School in 2002 as 
part of an ongoing joint research project 
with the World Economic Forum.

Ongoing ICT initiatives

Central State Administrative Office  
and e-Croatia
The Central State Administrative Office for 
e-Croatia (the Office) is a central government 
agency founded in 2003 to help develop 
information systems across government 
agencies.

One of the Office’s main tasks is to establish 
a uniform framework for ICT at all government 
offices and to set technical standards for the 
use of IT in the public sector. The Office also 
helps to prepare and monitor normative and 
expert frameworks for Croatia’s accession to 
the European Union relating to the information 
society and the media, and to promote and 
improve an information infrastructure. 

Under the Office’s purview, e-Croatia 
(e-Hrvatska) was introduced in 2003 and 
quickly emerged as a priority of the Croatian 
government. The initiative will enable the 
public to access a large number of government 
services online. 

HITRONet network
In 2004 the Croatian Financial Agency (FINA), 
a government-owned company for financial 
transactions, was entrusted with developing 
the IT communication network for state 
administration bodies, known as HITRONet. 
HITRONet is an information-communication 
network which connects various bodies of 
state administration and provides common 
internet access, technical support to  
end-users, system security and a subsystem 
of common network and application services. 

One of the HITRONet programmes, 
HITRO.HR, is based on the concept of a 

“one-stop shop” and offers individuals and 
companies comprehensive information about 

required documentation, as well as forms and 
money orders on the HITRO.HR web site. 
HITRO.HR provides several services, including: 

e-Tax ( � e-Porezna), which enables all 
taxpayers (legal and natural persons) in 
Croatia to file their tax returns and forms 
electronically

e-VAT ( � e-PDV), which enables all payers of 
value-added tax (VAT) to deliver periodical 
VAT account data online

e-Health ( � e-Zdravstvo), which enables 
companies to submit applications for 
registration and de-registration of, and to 
change information on, their employees

e-Pension ( � e-Mirovinsko), which enables 
companies to register their employees and 
submit any changes to, and termination of, 
their insurance online.

It is noteworthy that in its 2009 evaluation 
of top performers and improvers in the key 
areas of electronic filing and compliance, 
Companies House (the UK government register 
of UK companies) positively evaluated HITRO.
HR.4 The Companies House report notes 
that the opening of HITRO.HR offices around 
the country meant that five steps related to 
company incorporation could be completed by 
one office instead of having to go to different 
offices or send documents via regular mail. 

Nevertheless, despite a predominantly positive 
attitude towards doing business electronically, 
HITRO.HR’s potential does not seem to have 
been fully utilised. One study showed that the 
main reasons for this were lack of information 
about the services, a habit of doing business 
in a traditional way, the perception that 
companies do not have sufficient technology 
for e-business and concerns relating to the 
security of information.5

The eSEE Initiative
The aim of the Electronic South Eastern 
Europe Initiative (eSEE Initiative) is to promote 
an institutional environment equipped for an 
information society in line with EU policies. 
It also aims to coordinate the introduction 
of ICT projects in various fields, such as 
business, governance, health and education. 

Companies 
House 
positively 
evaluated 
HITRO.HR.
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4. See Companies House, 
Department for Business Enterprise 
and Regulatory Reform (March 
2009), “World class indicators”.

5. See Gfk Group: Javne usluge 
putem Interneta –prepreke 
za korištenje i prioriteti za 
informatizaciju (Public services 
on the internet – obstacles for 
utilisation and priorities for IT), 
September 2006, available at: 
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/
Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/
categoryParagraph/011/
document/Istrazivanje_
prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_
koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf 
(last visited on 28 April 2009).

http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/categoryParagraph/011/document/Istrazivanje_prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/categoryParagraph/011/document/Istrazivanje_prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/categoryParagraph/011/document/Istrazivanje_prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/categoryParagraph/011/document/Istrazivanje_prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/categoryParagraph/011/document/Istrazivanje_prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/hr/Dokumenti/StrategijeIProgrami/categoryParagraph/011/document/Istrazivanje_prioriteta_i_prepreka_u_koristenju_javnih_e-usluga.pdf
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The eSEE Initiative is chaired by Croatia 
and backed by the Secretariat, which is 
based in the United Nations Development 
Programme’s (UNDP) Sarajevo office.

The eSEE Initiative is part of the Stability Pact 
for South Eastern Europe and implements 
the eSEEurope Agenda for the Development 
of the Information Society (the eSEE Agenda). 
This Agenda was signed in 2002 to better 
integrate the Pact’s member countries6 into 
the process of building an information society 
with EU member states – decade-long political 
instability in the region has meant it lags 
behind EU member states in this regard. 

In the eSEE Agenda, the Pact’s member 
countries agreed to pursue the following 
objectives: 

organisation – through the establishment of  �

an institutional framework for an ICT-based 
society

legislation – through introduction of new  �

legislative frameworks for an ICT-based 
society

regulation – through liberalisation,  �

privatisation, policy and strategy related to 
electronic communications infrastructure 
and associated services

promotion – through encouragement of civil  �

society, non-governmental organisations 
and joint e-governance, e-learning and other 
region-based activities.7

By signing the Pact, governments also 
committed to, among other things, providing 
budgetary funding for their appointed 
representatives, covering any local costs of 
the functioning of the eSEE Working Group 
and meeting quarterly to review individual 
progress in relation to the countries’ 
commitments under the agreed agenda.8

Electronic registries and databases

The e-Justice initiative (part of e-Croatia) 
aims to introduce IT into the justice system. 

Projects under this initiative are coordinated by 
the Croatian Ministry of Justice (Ministarstvo 
pravosuđa). What follows is an overview of 
some of the databases and online registries 
most widely used by legal practitioners.

Online Land Registry
Croatia has been in the process of 
computerising its Land Registry. This 
process is still ongoing. However, it is 
currently possible to search most of the 
Land Registry books online and obtain an 
electronic Land Registry extract for a property 
that has been entered into the database. 
In May 2005 an online service for a digital 
Land Registry with access to databases of 
around 50 courts became accessible to the 
public. By the end of 2005, all 87 courts 
which enter data in digital form opened a 
digital Land Registry and all municipal courts 
became equipped for digital entry of Land 
Registry data. These data are consolidated 
into a single central Land Registry.9 

It is important to note that electronic extracts 
are not considered official documents when it 
comes to using them for collateral purposes. 
Only extracts obtained in paper directly from 
the Land Registry have the legal power; the 
same applies to cadastre extracts. The digital 
Land Registry can be accessed through: http://
e-izvadak.pravosudje.hr/mpweb/main.jsp. 

In addition, the e-Cadastre service enables 
online insight into the legal status of 
properties in Croatia, based on a number 
of the relevant land plot and cadastral 
municipality data. Considering that 
e-Cadastre contains stored information on 
all cadastre plots in Croatia, which makes 
it the most complete database on spatial 
conditions in the country, it is becoming 
very important in solving cadastre-related 
issues. E-Cadastre is available at: http://
katastar.hr/dgu/ind.php. Searching all of 
these databases is entirely free of charge.

Online Commercial Court Registry
The online Commercial Court Registry 
contains information on all corporate entities 
that were founded and registered in the 

The e-Justice 
initiative aims 
to introduce IT 
into the justice 
system.

6. Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Croatia, FYR Macedonia, Moldova, 
Montenegro and Serbia.

7. See eSEEurope Agenda for the 
Development of the Information 
Society, available at: http://
www.stabilitypact.org/e-see/
eSEE%20Agenda%20for%20
the%20Development%20of%20
Information%20Society.pdf, 
last visited on 25 April 2009.

8. Id. 

9. See the e-Justice report 
at: http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/
sdu/en/ProgramEHrvatska/
Provedba/e-Pravosudje.html; 
last visited on 29 May 2009.

“ ”

http://www.stabilitypact.org/e-see/eSEE Agenda for the Development of Information Society.pdf
http://www.stabilitypact.org/e-see/eSEE Agenda for the Development of Information Society.pdf
http://www.stabilitypact.org/e-see/eSEE Agenda for the Development of Information Society.pdf
http://www.stabilitypact.org/e-see/eSEE Agenda for the Development of Information Society.pdf
http://www.stabilitypact.org/e-see/eSEE Agenda for the Development of Information Society.pdf
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/en/ProgramEHrvatska/Provedba/e-Pravosudje.html
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/en/ProgramEHrvatska/Provedba/e-Pravosudje.html
http://www.e-hrvatska.hr/sdu/en/ProgramEHrvatska/Provedba/e-Pravosudje.html
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Croatian Court Registry. The Registry contains 
information on the name of the company, its 
headquarters, business activities, board 
members and equity capital. Access to the 
Registry first became available in 1995. 
The Registry may be accessed at: https://
sudreg.pravosudje.hr and is free of charge.

Online database of High Commercial Court 
decisions
As of March 2009, an online database 
of selected decisions allows the public 
to view decisions of the High Commercial 
Court (Visoki trgovački sud) in the first 
and second instances. The project was 
carried out by the association Sudačka 
mreža (referred to as the “Judges’ web” in 
English) with the financial support of the 
Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The 
judges of the High Commercial Court also 
participated in the project’s implementation.

At the time of writing, the database contained 
about 22,000 High Commercial Court 
decisions and about 1,200 first instance 
decisions issued by the country’s lower 
commercial courts. Searching of the database 
is possible due to an index of more than 4,000 
key words suggested by the High Commercial 
Court judges. The aim of the database is 
to increase transparency of the courts’ and 
judges’ work and the project is thus viewed 
as an anti-corruption measure. The public can 
access the database via the Sudačka mreža 
web site at: www.sudacka-mreza.hr. The use 
of the database is entirely free of charge.

Online database of Supreme Court decisions
Since December 2003 the Supreme Court of 
the Republic of Croatia (Vrhovni sud Republike 
Hrvatske) has been publishing texts of court 
decisions on the internet (anonymising 
the parties, names). Similar to the online 
database of the High Commercial Court 
decisions, the aim of this is to increase the 
efficiency and transparency of the Court’s 
and judges’ work. The published cases go as 
far back as 1993. The web site offers a full 
text search of court decisions in HTML format 
in Croatian. The site also contains expert 
papers written by the Supreme Court judges.

The public can access the database via 
the Supreme Court web site at: http://
sudskapraksa.vsrh.hr/SuPra/ entirely free of 
charge.

Narodne Novine
The list of free online sources of legal 
information would not be complete without 
mentioning Narodne Novine, which is Croatia’s 
Official Gazette and considered by many to 
be the primary source of legislation online. It 
publishes laws, regulations, official decisions 
and up-to-date amendments thereto and 
releases them in the public domain. Narodne 
Novine is also published in paper form and 
its online contents can be accessed at: www.
nn.hr. In 2001 Narodne Novine, a publishing 
company that publishes the Official Gazette, 
decided to charge a fee for online searches 
of its contents. However, following pressure 
from GONG, a non-governmental organisation 
devoted to the development of civil society, 
the company soon decided to provide 
searches of its online content free of charge. 

Intellectio luris
Intellectio Iuris is the largest commercial 
database in Croatia for legal research 
and documentation, available at: www.
pravnadatoteka.hr. The online database has 
existed since March 2002 and is updated 
twice a month. The information it provides 
is taken directly from official sources and 
is thus reflected objectively. The database 
contains two categories of entries: the first 
contains court decisions, while the second 
encompasses academic papers. Given that 
academic papers often cite court decisions, 
the database is organised in a way that allows 
the user to retrieve the relevant court decision 
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http://sudskapraksa.vsrh.hr/supra/
http://sudskapraksa.vsrh.hr/supra/
http://www.pravnadatoteka.hr
http://www.pravnadatoteka.hr
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by entering the title of the article in the search 
field “notes” (napomena). This is a highly 
useful feature because it provides access to 
court decisions that are not typically available 
in the courts’ official publications and are 
only known to the authors of the papers.

The database contains its own search engine 
using Boolean terms and allows for searches 
in the following seven fields: title (naslov); 
source (izvor); year/number (god/br); author 
(autor); key words (ključne riječi); area of 
law (grana prava) and notes (napomena). 
These fields may be searched individually or 
simultaneously. Another valuable feature of the 
database is that it contains opinions of legal 
experts on certain court decisions. If an expert, 
in their discussion of a legal issue, agrees 
with a court decision, the field titled “notes” 
(napomena) contains an exclamation mark: 

“!”. On the other hand, if an expert’s article 
questions the validity of a court decision, 
the field titled “notes” contains a question 
mark: “?”.

The database is not free of charge and an 
annual subscription costs Kuna 22,000 
(approximately €3,000). Its main users are 
law firms and in-house legal departments of 
corporations.

Overview of relevant legislation

For ICT initiatives to be successful, an 
effective legal framework is indispensable. 
In that respect, Croatia recently adopted a 
number of laws to support ICT development 
and its application in the business sector, 
such as the Electronic Signature Act, the 
Electronic Commerce Act, the Personal Data 
Protection Act, the Right to Information 
Act, the Information Secrecy Act and the 
Information Security Act. In continuation, 
an overview of the Right to Information, 
Information Secrecy and Information Security 
Acts is provided.

Right to Information Act
The Croatian Right to Information Act (Zakon 
o pravu na pristup informacijama, Official 
Gazette, No. 172/03) was enacted in October 

2003. The Act gives a general right of public 
access to all types of “recorded” information 
held by public authorities, sets out exemptions 
from that general right and places a number 
of obligations on public authorities. The Act 
also obligates public authorities to provide the 
requested information and to publish it, even 
when publication has not been specifically 
requested, but is prescribed by law or another 
regulation. The Act applies only to public 
authorities and not to private entities. Public 
authorities are defined to include government 
departments, local authorities and other public 
bodies. 

The right to information does not obviate 
the need to protect such information nor 
does it imply that everyone has a right to 
any information; instead, such a right is 
based on the “need to know” by interested 
parties. Public authorities may deny 
access to requested information if the 
relevant information has been classified 
as a state, military, official, professional 
or business secret, and if it is protected 
under the law which prohibits disclosure of 
private information. In addition, the right to 
information may be temporarily denied (for 
example, if there are reasonable grounds to 
believe that disclosure of such information 
would have a negative impact on the 
prevention and investigation of a felony), but 
must be disclosed once the grounds for such 
non-disclosure have ceased to exist.

In October 2008 Transparency International 
Croatia, a non-governmental organisation 
devoted to the increase of governmental 
accountability and suppression of corruption, 
together with GONG, organised a number of 
educational activities, the goal of which was to 
inform citizens about the Right to Information 
Act and encourage public authorities to 
increase their efforts in providing the public 
with information. Research conducted by these 
and other non-governmental organisations 
indicated that fewer than 50 per cent of 
Croatian citizens were even aware of the 
existence of the Right to Information Act. 
Further research also indicated that public 
authorities frequently failed to provide a 
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10. See TIH i GONG predstavljaju 
Zazzkon o pravu na pristup 
informacija (TIH and GONG 
present the Right to Information 
Act), Croatian Information News 
Agency (HINA), available at: http://
metro-portal.hr/vijesti/hrvatska/
tih-i-gong-predstavljaju-zakon-
o-pravu-na-pristup-informacija, 
last visited on 28 April 2009.

http://metro-portal.hr/vijesti/hrvatska/tih-i-gong-predstavljaju-zakon-o-pravu-na-pristup-informacija
http://metro-portal.hr/vijesti/hrvatska/tih-i-gong-predstavljaju-zakon-o-pravu-na-pristup-informacija
http://metro-portal.hr/vijesti/hrvatska/tih-i-gong-predstavljaju-zakon-o-pravu-na-pristup-informacija
http://metro-portal.hr/vijesti/hrvatska/tih-i-gong-predstavljaju-zakon-o-pravu-na-pristup-informacija
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direct, straightforward response to information 
requests.10 This suggests that practical 
implementation of the Right to Information 
Act may not be as effective as it might appear 
based on the government’s annual reports and 
that additional education and training activities 
might be needed.

Information Security Act
In July 2007 the Croatian parliament 
enacted the Information Security Act (Zakon 
o informacijskoj sigurnosti, Official Gazette, 
No. 79/07). The purpose of the Act was 
to harmonise Croatian legislation with the 
EU requirements on information security. 
Hence the Act introduces the concept of 
information security, information security 
measures and standards, as well as 
competent authorities for the implementation 
and enforcement of these measures and 
standards. The Act applies to government 
agencies, local and regional authorities 
and other entities with public authority that, 
within their scope of work, use classified 
and unclassified information, as well as to 
legal and natural persons who gain access 
to classified and unclassified information. 

The Act further stipulates that information 
security measures and standards shall be 
determined for both classified and unclassified 
data. Information security measures and 
standards encompass the following: 

oversight of access to and handling of  �

classified information

procedures in connection with unauthorised  �

disclosure and loss of classified information

emergency situation measures  �

set-up of special databases for information  �

classified in the Republic of Croatia and for 
classified information rendered by another 
country, international organisation or 
institution with which Croatia cooperates. 

The Act establishes the Office of the 
National Security Council as a central 
state authority entrusted with coordination, 
implementation and enforcement of 

the information security measures and 
standards in Croatia, as well as with the 
exchange of classified and unclassified 
information between Croatia and other 
countries and international organisations.11

Further, the Act also establishes the 
Information Systems Security Bureau as a 
central state authority for technical areas 
of information systems security. Lastly, 
the Act establishes CERT (the Computer 
Emergency Response Team) – a national 
authority responsible for the prevention of 
and protection from computer-related threats 
to public information systems in Croatia. 

Secrecy of Information Act
Along with the Information Security Act, in July 
2007, the Croatian parliament also enacted 
the Secrecy of Information Act (Zakon o 
tajnosti podataka, Official Gazette No. 79/07). 
The Act lays down the principles of a common 
system to determine and safeguard access 
to classified information regarding public 
security, defence, foreign affairs and the 
intelligence and security services, and for 
the classification of that information. The Act 
applies to all government agencies, local and 
regional authorities, holders of public authority 
and other entities which, in performing 
their duties, acquire or gain access to such 
classified information, as well as to individuals 
working in these agencies and companies. 

In view of possible adverse effects that 
disclosure of classified information to 
unauthorised persons might have on the 
security of the country or its political or 
economic interest, such information may 
be assigned one of the following levels of 
classification: top secret, secret, confidential 
or restricted. The first two classifications 
(top secret and secret) may be assigned 
only by the President of the Republic, the 
President of the National Assembly, the 
Prime Minister, the Attorney General, 
ministers, certain military commanders 
and heads of information intelligence units 
within the government. In addition to these 
individuals, the “confidential” and “restricted” 
classifications may also be assigned by 
heads of other government agencies. 

11. For more information on the 
Office of the National Security 
Council, its competencies, 
scope of work and members, 
please see the Office’s English 
language web site at: www.
uvns.hr/main.aspx?id=126, 
last visited on 28 April 2009.
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It is interesting to note that the first draft of 
the Act, which was presented to the public 
in 2006, stipulated that if a document 
contained both classified and non-classified 
information, the entire document would 
be deemed classified. Non-governmental 
agencies argued against this provision for 
being contrary to the Right to Information 
Act. Consequently, the final version of the 
Act which made it through the parliament 
states that if a document contains both 
classified information and information which 
does not prejudice the security of the country 
or its political or economic interests, then 
the latter, non-prejudicial information in the 
document will not be deemed classified. 

Another provision of the Act that ignited 
controversy relates to the moment at which 
the relevant information is designated as 
classified. Namely, the Act prescribes that 
the classification of information shall occur 
when that information originated or during 
periodic reviews of the degree of classification 
assigned to it. The Act further lists the 
minimum frequency with which such periodic 
reviews must occur for different types of 
information, allowing for such a review to 
occur more frequently than the minimum 
prescribed frequency and thus leaving room 
for information potentially being designated 
as classified immediately or shortly after 
it has been requested by the public. 

The Act further provides that, if there is 
public interest in classified information, the 
person that categorised it as classified 
is required to perform a balancing test, 
weighing the right to information against 
the desire to maintain secrecy. Before 
making their decision on disclosure, the 
person must consult the Office of the 
National Security Council, which is the body 
entrusted with the enforcement of the Act.

Conclusion

The legal system in Croatia is undergoing 
profound changes. These reforms will 
improve legal practice, including allowing for 
greater online access to legal information 
and increased transparency in the legal 
sector. With the advent of these reforms, it 
is expected that the number of web sites 
and databases providing legal information 
in English will gradually increase. 

In practice, however, it remains to be seen 
how the government and regulators will 
grapple with the application and enforcement 
of new laws, especially in areas that leave 
room for interpretation. In addition, steps 
should be taken to raise awareness among 
citizens and civil society organisations 
about ICT policies and new legislation and 
to search for allies in the business sector.
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Securities markets and 
corporate governance 
legislation on the web

Starting from the viewpoint that knowledge is 
the first fundamental step towards ensuring 
that rules are applied, this article looks at 
each of the EBRD’s countries of operations, 
focusing on stock exchanges and securities 
markets web sites.2

The availability of information in English has 
been considered a key element of the current 
analysis as it is believed that the development 
of national market economies strongly 
depends on foreign participation. It is therefore 
essential that the players and their advisers 
need access to a widely spoken language. 
The English language is the most widely used 
on the World Wide Web and its use is likely 
to amplify the access of information to a 
higher number of potential readers. Of course, 
availability of information in other regional 
languages (e.g., Russian) is also welcome, but 
it is outside the analysis of the present article.

Central eastern Europe and 
the Baltic states (CEB) 

In CEB every country has a functioning stock 
exchange and a securities markets regulator 
with web sites available, including in English. 
All countries offer a variety of legal information, 
again including in English. Securities markets 
legislation is generally available but sometimes 
it is difficult to find legal Acts on corporate 
governance and therefore understand 
which corporate governance practices are 

in place and to what extent the companies 
comply with the national voluntary codes.

Czech Republic
The web site of the Prague Stock Exchange 
hosts a section dedicated to rules and 
regulations but it includes only the trading 
rules of the exchange and the site does 
not have a link to legislation regulating the 
activities of the securities markets. Some 
more information can be found on the Czech 
National Bank web site, securities markets 
regulator since 1 April 2006, taking over 
from the Czech Securities Commission, the 
Office of State Supervision of Insurance 
Companies and Private Pension Schemes 
and the Office for Supervision of Credit 
Unions. The National Bank’s web site 
includes a section on legislation that hosts 
a number of laws and regulations, most of 
which are also available in English. The web 
site also includes an (outdated) version 
of the Commercial Code, the principal Act 
detailing corporate governance rules in the 
country. Oddly, the 2004 Czech Corporate 
Governance Code is only published on the 
old web site of the Securities Commission.

Baltic states
The stock exchanges of Tallinn, Riga and 
Vilnius are owned by the NASDAQ OMX 
Baltic stock exchanges, whose web site 
has a section on rules and regulations 
dedicated to each of the three exchanges, 

1. The author would like to thank 
Ozlem Barut and Vesselina 
Haralampieva of the EBRD for their 
research and contributions to this 
article.

2. The list of web site visited and 
their web addresses is available 
in the table at the end of the 
article. All the links are up to date 
at the time of writing, 1 September 
2009. Comments are based on the 
information available on the web 
sites at that date.

Gian Piero Cigna, Senior Counsel, EBRD1

The internet has quickly become the most important tool for disseminating 
information worldwide. In many countries, state authorities have not only created 
web sites hosting useful information, but also changed their approach towards 
disclosing information to the public.

http://www.pse.cz/dokument.aspx?k=Rules
http://www.pse.cz/dokument.aspx?k=Rules
http://www.cnb.cz/export/EN/Publications/get_dms_file.do?FileId=1253
http://www.cnb.cz/export/EN/Publications/get_dms_file.do?FileId=1253
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and includes a comprehensive set of 
links to laws and regulations in English. 
The Tallinn Stock Exchange has links to 
legislation provided by the Ministry of Justice 
(including a link to the Commercial Code), 
while the other two exchanges provide 
links to the databases administered by the 
national securities markets regulators. 

In Estonia, since January 2002, the 
Financial Supervision Authority has been 
the securities markets regulator. The 
Authority is an autonomous agency of the 
Bank of Estonia with a separate budget 
and management, and responsibility for the 
banking, securities and insurance markets. 
Its web site includes a section dedicated to 
regulations that hosts links to laws, guidelines 
of the Financial Supervision Authority and 
other regulations in English, but no legal 
acts on corporate governance. The national 
corporate governance code, the Estonian 
Corporate Governance Recommendations, is 
available on the stock exchange web site.

In Latvia, the Financial and Capital Market 
Commission is the securities markets 
regulator. The Commission was created 
in July 2001 as an autonomous public 
institution in charge of supervising Latvian 
banks, insurance companies and insurance 
brokerage companies, participants of 
financial instruments markets, as well as 
private pension funds. The Commission’s 
web site has a comprehensive section 
dedicated to legislation in English, where 
it is possible to find laws and regulations 
on banking, insurance, pension funds 
and the securities markets. As in 
Estonia, there are no laws available on 
corporate governance, while the Latvian 
Principles of Corporate Governance and 
Recommendations on their Implementation 
is available on the stock exchange web site.

The Lithuanian Securities Commission was 
established in September 1992 to act as 
the securities markets regulator. Its web 
site has a section on legislation, including 
EU legal acts, national laws, Commission 
regulations and draft legislation. Interestingly, 

the web site also includes a link to the 
Law on Companies, which is the main Act 
detailing corporate governance legislation 
in the country. The Lithuanian Corporate 
Governance Code for the Companies 
Listed on the Vilnius Stock Exchange is 
available on the stock exchange web site.

Hungary
The Budapest Stock Exchange hosts a 
section on rules and regulations, but only 
the exchange’s rules are available in English. 
The web site also includes a link to the 
Corporate Governance Recommendations 
and to some EU legislation. Additional 
information is available on the Hungarian 
Financial Supervisory Authority web site. The 
Authority was established in January 2000 
through the merger into a single body of three 
supervisory agencies: the Hungarian Banking 
and Capital Market Supervision Agency, the 
State Insurance Supervision Agency and 
the State Pension Supervision Agency. Its 
web site includes a section on national 
legislation, on regulations and on EU law (an 
external link to the EC Commission) with a 
number of laws and regulations available in 
English. However, very little information is 
available on corporate governance issues.

Poland
The Warsaw Stock Exchange is the regulated 
market in Poland. Its web site has a section 
on regulations offering a summary of the 
legal framework governing the activities of the 
stock exchange and links to the exchange’s 
trading rules. The exchange also has a section 
dedicated to corporate governance in Poland 
and a link to the best practices of WSE listed 
companies. Since September 2006, the Polish 
Financial Supervision Authority (PFSA) has 
been the securities markets regulator. The 
Authority took over from the Insurance and 
Pension Funds Supervisory Commission and 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
The Authority has also been in charge of 
banking activities since January 2008. Its 
web site includes a section dedicated to 
laws and decrees in English, but no specific 
regulation on corporate governance.

http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/?id=1979687
http://www.fi.ee/?id=594
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/tallinn/bors/press/HYT_eng.pdf
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/tallinn/bors/press/HYT_eng.pdf
http://www.fktk.lv/en/law/general/laws/
http://www.fktk.lv/en/law/general/laws/
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/riga/corp_gov_feb2009_eng.pdf
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/riga/corp_gov_feb2009_eng.pdf
http://www.vpk.lt/en/legal-information/eu-legal-acts/
http://www.vpk.lt/en/legal-information/effective-national-laws/
http://www.vpk.lt/en/legal-information/commission-regulations/
http://www.vpk.lt/en/legal-information/commission-regulations/
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/baltic/VSE_CGC.pdf
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/baltic/VSE_CGC.pdf
http://www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com/files/baltic/VSE_CGC.pdf
http://www.bse.hu/topmenu/marketsandproducts/rulesandregulations
http://www.bse.hu/data/cms61401/CGR_080516.doc
http://www.pszaf.hu/en/topmenu/legislation/naitonal_legislation
http://www.pszaf.hu/en/topmenu/legislation/naitonal_legislation
http://www.pszaf.hu/en/left_menu/regulation
http://www.pszaf.hu/en/topmenu/legislation/eu_legislation
http://www.gpw.pl/gpw.asp?cel=e_ogieldzie&k=7&i=/regulacje/opis&sky=1
http://www.corp-gov.gpw.pl/
http://www.corp-gov.gpw.pl/assets/library/english/best_practices_2007.pdf
http://www.corp-gov.gpw.pl/assets/library/english/best_practices_2007.pdf
http://www.knf.gov.pl/en/law/Capital_and_Commodity_Market/index.html
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Slovak Republic
Similar to Poland, the Bratislava Stock 
Exchange offers a section on corporate 
governance (including the text of the national 
corporate governance code  and the template 
for compliance statements) and a section 
on stock exchange regulations. The National 
Bank of Slovakia is the securities markets 
regulator and took over the competencies of 
the Financial Market Authority in January 2006. 
The National Bank cooperates with the Ministry 
of Finance for the enactment of capital 
markets regulations. The National Bank’s 
web site offers a section on legislation with a 
comprehensive list of laws and regulations in 
English, but no link to the Commercial Code, 
the main Act concerning corporate governance.

Slovenia
The Ljubljana Stock Exchange includes a 
section on stock exchange regulations where 
it is possible to download the Corporate 
Governance Code. There are also a few links to 
some laws in English (although when accessed 
at the time of writing, the links did not work). 
The Securities Market Agency, established 
in March 1994, is the securities markets 
regulator. Its web site includes a section on 
the legal framework, with links to laws and 
regulations in English and to relevant EU 
directives and regulations. The web site offers 
no link to the Companies Act, the principal law 
dealing with corporate governance in Slovenia.

South-eastern Europe and Turkey

When compared with CEB, the number of stock 
exchanges and their liquidity in south-eastern 
Europe is rather low. The market is inactive 
in Albania and has little liquidity in Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia. 
There is a fair amount of legal information 
offered, but only a minority is in English. 

Albania
The only stock exchange present in Albania, 
the Tirana Stock Exchange, is inactive and 
its web site contains little information in 
English. The Financial Supervisory Authority 
is the securities market regulator. The 
Authority was created in August 2006, unifying 

the regulatory functions of the Albanian 
Securities Commission, the Insurance 
Supervisory Authority and the Inspectorate 
of Private Pensions Institutes. Its web site 
includes a section in English on the legal 
framework with quite a comprehensive list 
of laws and regulations on the securities 
markets, insurance, pension funds and 
EU legislation. Information relating to 
corporate governance is not available.

Bosnia and Herzegovina
The securities markets legal framework in 
Bosnia and Herzegovina is mostly regulated 
at Entity level.3 Each of the Entities has its 
own legal system, a separate Securities 
Commission and stock exchange. In the 
Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina the 
Sarajevo Stock Exchange is the regulated 
market. Its web site includes a section on 
legislation in English but, at the time of 
writing, the links did not seem to work. The 
Securities Commission of the Federation 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina is the securities 
markets regulator in the Federation. Its 
web site includes a section dedicated to 
legislation, but it is not available in English. 
The Banja Luka Stock Exchange is the stock 
exchange in the Republika Srpska. Its web 
site includes several links to laws, rules 
of the exchange and regulations of the 
Securities Commission but only a few of 
them are in English. It also includes a link to 
the Standards of Corporate Governance in 
English. The Securities Commission of the 
Republika Srpska was created in 2000 to 
support the establishment and development 
of the securities markets in the Republika 
Srpska. Its web site contains a section on 
regulation but it is not available in English.

Bulgaria
The Bulgarian Stock Exchange web site 
is one of the most informative. It has a 
dedicated section on rules and regulations 
(with links to many laws in English, including 
the Commerce Act, the principal law detailing 
corporate governance rules in Bulgaria) 
and to the Bulgarian National Code for 
Corporate Governance in English. The web 
site also includes a section on corporate 
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3. The territorial constitutional 
entities distinguished here 
include the State of Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, the Federation of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina (FBH) and 
the Republika Srpska (RS) and the 
cantons of the Federation. The 
FBH and RS are referred to as the 
“Entities”. The District of Brčko 
enjoys a special status based on 
an Arbitration Award in accordance 
with the Dayton Peace Agreement.

http://www.bsse.sk/Content/EN/Issuers/Corporate_Governance.lst/DEFAULT.HTM
http://www.bsse.sk/Content/EN/Issuers/Corporate_Governance.lst/DEFAULT.HTM
http://www.bsse.sk/Content/EN/StockExchange/regulations.lst/DEFAULT.HTM?LANG=EN
http://www.nbs.sk/en/legislation
http://www.ljse.si/cgi-bin/jve.cgi?doc=8377&sid=SLSNmeYdIHuSS7gF
http://www.a-tvp.si/Eng/Default.aspx?id=2
http://amf.gov.al/ligje.asp
http://amf.gov.al/ligje.asp
http://amf.gov.al/akte.asp
http://www.sase.ba/english/DesktopDefault.aspx?tabid=22
http://www.komvp.gov.ba/bih/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=36&func=select&id=2
http://www.blberza.com/v2/Pages/regulations.aspx?prefix=zakoni&cat=zakoni
http://www.blberza.com/v2/Pages/regulations.aspx?prefix=berza&cat=pravila
http://www.blberza.com/v2/Pages/regulations.aspx?prefix=berza&cat=pravila
http://www.blberza.com/v2/Pages/regulations.aspx?prefix=khov&cat=pravilnici
http://www.blberza.com/v2/Pages/regulations.aspx?prefix=khov&cat=pravilnici
http://www.blberza.com/cms2filecache/files/cms2/docver/5048/files/standardi upravljanja eng.pdf
http://www.sec.rs.ba/Regulativa/Default.aspx
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=RulesAndRegulations&PHPSESSID=811921b049646b8fbef9fa64e83ffcce
http://download.bse-sofia.bg/pdf/CodeksEN.pdf
http://download.bse-sofia.bg/pdf/CodeksEN.pdf
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
http://www.bse-sofia.bg/?page=CorporateGovernance
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governance, listing companies that have 
declared their full compliance with the code, 
although the compliance statements are 
not available. The Financial Supervision 
Commission was established in March 2003 
as a single authority for market supervision, 
replacing the Bulgarian National Securities 
Commission, the Insurance Supervision 
Agency and the State Insurance Supervision 
Agency. The Commission’s web site includes 
a comprehensive section on legislation with 
links to laws, regulations and ordinances in 
English and to a number of EU directives.

Croatia
The Zagreb Stock Exchange web site has 
a page dedicated to the legal framework, 
although the page has only two links to laws, 
both only in Croatian. Instead, the rules of 
the exchange, the Corporate Governance 
Code and the Annual Questionnaire (which 
listed companies are required to complete 
and publish together with their Annual 
Report according to the “comply or explain 
mechanism”) are available in English. Two 
main bodies oversee the Croatian capital 
market: credit institutions are supervised by 
the Croatian National Bank; and the securities 
market, pension funds and insurance 
companies are under the supervision of the 
Croatian Agency for Supervision of Financial 
Services. The Agency was established in 
January 2006 by consolidating the authorities 
of the Insurance Companies Supervisory 
Authority, the Croatian Securities Commission 
and the Agency for Supervision of Pension 
Funds and Insurance to the new Agency. Its 
web site offers a comprehensive section on 
regulations, with many laws and regulations 
in English, but not the Law on Companies, 
the main act on corporate governance.

FYR Macedonia
The Macedonian Stock Exchange hosts a 
section dedicated to legislation with links 
to laws and regulations in English, including 
the Company Law, detailing corporate 
governance requirements for commercial 
companies. The web site also hosts the 
Corporate Governance Code for Companies 
Listed on the Macedonian Stock Exchange 
and the Corporate Governance Manual for 

Macedonian Joint Stock Companies. The 
Securities and Exchange Commission of the 
Republic of Macedonia was created in June 
1992 and is the securities markets regulator. 
The web site of the Commission has only 
an English home page, while information 
is only available in the local language. 

Montenegro
The Montenegro Stock Exchange offers a 
section on the rules of the exchange and 
one dedicated to laws in English, including 
the Business Organisation Law, the 
principal Act on corporate governance. The 
Securities Commission of Montenegro took 
over jurisdiction from the Yugoslav Federal 
Commission for Securities and Financial 
Markets, the market regulator since 1989, 
and is the securities markets regulator of 
Montenegro. The web site of the Commission 
has only an English home page, with 
information available only in the local language.

The stock exchange in these two countries 
offer valuable information in English but 
the English web sites of the securities 
markets regulators need to be improved. 

Romania
The Bucharest Stock Exchange includes a 
section dedicated to the rules of the exchange 
and a section on corporate governance with a 
link to the Corporate Governance Code. The 
National Securities Commission was created 
in 1994 and is the Romanian securities 
markets regulator. Its web site includes a 
section dedicated to legislation with links to 
laws, regulations and EU legislation. Most of 
the legal acts are available only in Romanian.

Serbia
The Belgrade Stock Exchange offers a link to 
the Corporate Governance Code  and a section 
on legislation (although at the time of writing 
many of the links did not work). A selection of 
laws in English is available on the web site of 
the National Bank of Serbia. The Securities 
Commission is the securities markets 
regulator in Serbia. The Commission was 
originally established in 1990 as the Yugoslav 
Federal Commission for the Securities and 
Financial Market. Since 2003 the Commission 
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has operated at the national level. Its web 
site includes a section with a number of links 
to laws and regulations in English, including 
the Law on Business Companies, a milestone 
in the regulation on corporate governance. 

Turkey
The Istanbul Stock Exchange includes a 
section on rules and regulations in English. 
The Capital Markets Board of Turkey 
is the securities markets regulator. Its 
web site includes a section on the legal 
framework with links to the Capital Market 
Law and some major regulations. Very 
little information on corporate governance 
can be found on both web sites.

Commonwealth of Independent 
States, Georgia and Mongolia

In Armenia, Georgia, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz 
Republic, Mongolia and Russia, stock 
exchanges do have some liquidity, but only 
the Russian stock markets have trading levels 
comparable to central Europe. When looking 
for legal Acts in English, the online information 
offered by stock exchanges and regulators is 
not always comprehensive or of good quality.

Armenia
The web site of the Armenian Stock 
Exchange is administered by the NASDAQ 
OMX Armenia. It is an informative site 
and includes several links to primary and 
secondary legislation on the securities 
markets. The Central Bank of Armenia has 
been the securities markets regulator since 
1 January 2006. Its web site includes a 
section on legislation with several links to 
laws and regulations in English and Russian.

Azerbaijan
The web site of the Baku Stock Exchange 
includes links to laws and regulations. The 
rules of the exchange are available in English, 
while the laws are only in Azeri. Since 
December 1998, the State Committee for 
Securities under the Auspices of the President 
of Azerbaijan has been the securities markets 
regulator in Azerbaijan. Its web site has 
an English version which is currently under 
construction. Some limited information on 
laws and regulations is available in Russian.

Belarus
The Belarusian Currency and Stock Exchange 
is the only stock exchange in the country. Its 

The majority 
of securities 
markets 
regulators 
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of corporate 
governance 
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quality of 
corporate 
governance 
infomation in 
English needs 
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web site is in both English and Russian. It 
hosts a section dedicated to legal documents, 
but it is very limited and available only in 
Russian. The Securities Department of the 
Ministry of Finance is the securities markets 
regulator. The Ministry of Finance also 
regulates the insurance sector, while the 
National Bank of Belarus is in charge of the 
banking sector and the Population Protection 
Fund regulates pension funds. Apart from the 
above, the National Legal Internet Portal of the 
Republic of Belarus offers a comprehensive 
collection of legislation in English.

Georgia
The Georgian Stock Exchange hosts a section 
dedicated to the rules of the exchange, 
including the trading rules, the Code of 
Ethics of the Georgian Stock Exchange and 
the Rules for Settlement of Disputes on the 
Georgian Stock Exchange. The Georgian 
Financial Supervisory Agency is the securities 
market regulator, created on 24 April 2008. 
It replaced both the National Security 
Commission and the State Supervisory 
Service of Insurance. The Agency is in charge 
of supervising the banking sector, securities 
markets and insurance sector. The Agency 
web site includes a section on legislation but 
there are no documents available in English.

Kazakhstan
The Kazakhstan Stock Exchange is the main 
stock exchange in the country. Its web site 
includes a section in English dedicated to 
the Regulatory Base which hosts a number of 
regulations relevant for the activities of the 
exchange. The section is quite comprehensive 
but does not include any legislation. In 
February 2006 the Regional Financial Center 
of Almaty (the RFCA) was created. The RFCA 
is a government initiative to create a financial 
market operating to internationally recognised 
standards of market regulation and best 
practices. It is a separate trading platform of 
the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange with simplified 
access for non-residents and its own listing 
rules. The RFCA is managed and supervised 
by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
for Regulation of the Activity of the RFCA, 
which reports directly to the President of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan. The Agency’s web 
site includes a section of legislation in English. 
The Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
Financial Supervision is the securities 
markets regulator. Its web site has a section 
on legislation, including laws and regulations 
on the banking, insurance and securities 
markets, as well as pension schemes. It also 
hosts the Code of Corporate Governance and 
a commentary to the code, both in English.

Kyrgyz Republic
There are three stock exchanges in the 
Kyrgyz Republic: the Kyrgyz Stock Exchange 
(KSE), the Exchange Trade System (BTS) 
and the Central Asian Stock Exchange 
CJSC (CASE). Only the KSE has a web 
site. It includes a section on “Normative 
Documents” but Acts are not available in 
English. The Financial Market Supervision and 
Regulation Service is the securities markets 
regulator in the Kyrgyz Republic. Its web site 
is comprehensive but it is not in English.

Moldova
The web site of the Moldova Stock Exchange 
hosts a section on legislation, but without 
listing any relevant legal Act. The securities 
markets regulator in Moldova is the 
National Financial Market Commission, in 
charge of non-banking financial markets, 
including securities, insurance, savings 
and loan associations and microfinancing 
organisations. Its web site includes a section 
on the legal framework, with a number of 
laws and regulations in English. The web 
site also includes the link to the Code of 
Corporate Governance and to a database of 
Moldovan legislation (in Romanian only).

Mongolia
The web site of the Mongolian Stock Exchange 
includes a selection of laws and regulations, 
including the Corporate Governance Code 
of Mongolia. With the enactment of the 
Financial Regulatory Committee Law 
in December 2005, the supervision of 
securities markets, insurance, non-bank 
financial organisations, and credit and 
savings cooperatives was assigned to the 
Financial Regulatory Commission, while the 
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Mongol Bank (the Central Bank of Mongolia) 
regulates the operations of Mongolia’s 
commercial banks. The web site of the 
Financial Regulatory Commission hosts a 
section dedicated to laws and regulations with 
links to a number of legal Acts in English.

Russia
The Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange 
(MICEX) is the largest financial exchange 
operating in Russia. The MICEX stock market 
trading volume in 2008 was 17,621.49 billion 
roubles (about €403 billion). Its web site 
includes links to the MICEX listing rules and 
regulations for government securities and 
money markets and commodities in English. 
An important OTC (over-the-counter) market 
in Russia is the Russian Trading System 
Stock Exchange. Its web site includes links to 
the RTS Listing Rules and Derivatives Rules 
in English. Since March 2004 the Russian 
securities market regulator has been the 
Federal Service for Financial Markets. It 
was established by a Presidential decree 
replacing the authorities of the former 
Federal Commission for the Securities 
Market, of the Ministry of Labour and Social 
Development and of the Ministry of Antitrust 
Policy for supervision of the exchange, and 
of the Ministry of Finance for supervision of 
pension reform. The web site of the Service 
includes a section on legislation in English 
with only few summaries available. It also 
includes a link to the Russian Corporate 
Governance Code, enacted in 2002 with the 
technical assistance of the EBRD and the 
financial support of the government of Japan.

Tajikistan
The country does not have an active stock 
exchange and the limited secondary market is 
restricted to government bonds. The Agency 
for Securities and Foreign Investments at 
the Ministry of Finance is the securities 
markets regulator. A database of laws 
in English is available on the internet. 

Turkmenistan
The Ministry of Economy and Finance is 
the state regulator in charge of securities 
issuance and offering, change of control 

transactions (along with the State Service 
for Foreign Investment of the President 
of Turkmenistan), securities market and 
brokerage, and dealing activities.

Ukraine
The English section of the web site of the 
Ukrainian Stock Exchange does not contain 
any relevant legal information. The Securities 
and Stock Market State Commission is the 
securities markets regulator. Its web site 
includes a section on the legal framework, 
where it is possible to download some laws 
in English, but many of them are outdated.

Uzbekistan
The web site of the Tashkent Stock Exchange 
is available only in Russian. It includes 
a section on laws and regulations. The 
Centre for Coordination and Control over 
Functioning of the Securities Market under 
the State Property Committee of Uzbekistan 
is the securities markets regulator. Its 
web site includes a section on legislation, 
where it is possible to download the 
Law on Securities Market in English.

Conclusions

Most securities markets regulators and 
stock exchanges in the transition region have 
a web site. In CEB, web sites are usually 
very informative and include comprehensive 
information on the securities markets 
framework. Laws and regulations on the 
capital markets are generally available in 
English. However, it is not always easy to 
find legislation on corporate governance. 
All countries, with the exception of the 
Czech Republic, have issued corporate 
governance codes based on the “comply 
or explain” principle, but web sites do not 
host companies’ corporate governance 
statements in English. This information, 
which should be an integral part of the 
information provided by the exchange to 
investors, can sometimes be found on the 
individual company’s web site but this is not 
commonplace and, as a result, it becomes 
very difficult to understand the corporate 
governance practices in place. Moreover, the 
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majority of securities markets regulators are 
in charge of corporate governance issues. The 
quality of corporate governance information 
available in English needs to be improved.

The situation is similar in south-eastern 
Europe and Turkey. In general, stock exchange 
web sites are more informative than those of 
the securities markets regulators, with the 
notable exception of Albania. The Istanbul 
Stock Exchange has recently revised its 
web site but it does not currently have any 
legal Acts available. Corporate governance 
legislation in English is available only on the 
Bulgarian and FYR Macedonian web sites. 
While most countries in the region have issued 
a corporate governance code, it is very difficult 
to understand which company complies with 
the code and what the corporate governance 
practices in place actually are. In Bulgaria, 
the stock exchange lists the companies that 
have declared full compliance with the code. 
However, one would expect full compliance 
with a mandatory Act (in other words, a law) 
more than a voluntary code. The companies’ 
corporate governance statements could not 
be located on the stock exchange web site.

In the Commonwealth of Independent 
States, Georgia and Mongolia, the quantity 
and quality of legal information available in 
English is limited. Russia and Moldova have 
a corporate governance code based on the 

“comply or explain principle” but corporate 
governance compliance statements could not 
be found on the exchanges’ and regulators’ 
web sites. Only Armenia and Tajikistan offer 
a good database of legislation in English. 

The internet has become an indispensible 
tool for disseminating legal information in the 
transition countries. The EBRD is encouraging 
the publication of legislation and has created 
a database of legislation on securities 
markets, and corporate governance codes, 
with the hope that this will help improve the 
knowledge of legislation and the rule of law.
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Web sites of Stock Exchanges and Securities Markets Regulators in Eastern Europe  
and Central Asia
Country Stock Exchange Securities Markets Regulator
South Eastern Europe and Turkey

Albania Tirana Stock Exchange 
www.tse.com.al

Financial Supervisory Authority 
http://amf.gov.al

Bosnia and Herzegovina Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina

Sarajevo Stock Exchange 
www.sase.ba 
Capital Markets Portal in the  
Federation of BH 
www.capitalmarket.ba

Securities Commission of the Federation of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina 
www.komvp.gov.ba/

Republika Srpska

Banja Luka Stock Exchange 
www.blberza.com/

Securities Commission of the Republika 
Srpska 
www.sec.rs.ba/

Bulgaria Bulgarian Stock Exchange 
www.bse-sofia.bg/

Financial Supervision Commission 
www.fsc.bg/

Croatia Zagreb Stock Exchange 
http://zse.hr 

Croatian Agency for Supervision of Financial 
Services 
www.hanfa.hr/

FYR Macedonia FYR Macedonian Stock Exchange 
www.mse.org.mk

Securities and Exchange Commission of the 
Republic of Macedonia 
www.sec.gov.mk/

Montenegro Montenegro Stock Exchange 
www.montenegroberza.com 

Securities Commission of Montenegro 
www.scmn.me

Romania Bucharest Stock Exchange 
www.bvb.ro/

National Securities Commission 
www.cnvmr.ro/

Serbia Belgrade Stock Exchange 
www.belex.rs

Securities Commission 
www.sec.gov.rs/

Turkey Istanbul Stock Exchange 
www.ise.org/

Capital Markets Board of Turkey 
www.cmb.gov.tr/ 

Commonwealth of Independent States, Georgia and Mongolia

Armenia Armenian Stock Exchange 
www.nasdaqomx.am

Central Bank of Armenia 
www.cba.am/ 

Azerbaijan Baku Stock Exchange 
www.bfb.az 

State Committee for Securities under the 
Auspices of the President of Azerbaijan 
www.scs.gov.az/

Belarus Belarusian Currency and Stock Exchange 
www.bcse.by 

Securities Department of the Ministry of 
Finance 
No website

Georgia Georgian Stock Exchange 
www.gse.ge/

Georgian Financial Supervisory Agency 
www.fsa.gov.ge

Kazakhstan Kazakhstan Stock Exchange 
www.kase.kz/en 
Regional Financial Center of Almaty 
www.rfca.kz

Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
Financial Supervision 
www.afn.kz/ 
Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for 
Regulation of the Activity of the RFCA 
www.rfca.gov.kz

www.tse.com.al
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Web sites of Stock Exchanges and Securities Markets Regulators in Eastern Europe  
and Central Asia
Country Stock Exchange Securities Markets Regulator
Kyrgyz Republic Kyrgyz Stock Exchange 

www.kse.kg  
Exchange Trade System 
No website 
Central Asian Stock Exchange 
No website

Financial Market Supervision and Regulation 
Service 
www.fsa.kg/ 

Moldova Moldova Stock Exchange 
www.moldse.md/  

National Financial Market Commission 
www.cnpf.md/ 

Mongolia Mongolian Stock Exchange 
www.mse.mn/

Financial Regulatory Commission 
www.frc.mn/ 

Russia Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange 
(MICEX) 
www.micex.com/ 
Russian Trading System Stock Exchange 
www.rts.ru

Federal Service for Financial Markets 
www.ffms.ru/ 

Tajikistan No stock exchange Agency for Securities and Foreign 
Investments at the Ministry of Finance 
No website

Turkmenistan No stock exchange Ministry of Economy and Finance 
No website

Ukraine Ukrainian Stock Exchange 
www.ukrse.kiev.ua 

Securities and Stock Market State 
Commission 
www.ssmsc.gov.ua/ 

Uzbekistan Tashkent Stock Exchange 
www.uzse.uz/

Centre on Coordination and Control of 
Functioning of the Securities Market under 
the State Property Committee of Uzbekistan 
www.csm.gov.uz/

Central Europe and the Baltics

Czech Republic Prague Stock Exchange 
www.pse.cz/

Czech National Bank 
www.cnb.cz/

Estonia Tallinn Stock Exchange 
www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com

Financial Supervision Authority 
www.fi.ee

Hungary Budapest Stock Exchange 
www.bse.hu/

Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority 
www.pszaf.hu 

Latvia Riga Stock Exchange 
www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com

Finance and Capital Market Commission 
www.fktk.lv/ 

Lithuania Vilnius Stock Exchange 
www.nasdaqomxbaltic.com

Lithuanian Securities Commission 
www.lsc.lt/ 

Poland Warsaw Stock Exchange 
www.gpw.pl

Polish Financial Supervision Authority 
www.knf.gov.pl 

Slovak Republic Bratislava Stock Exchange 
www.bsse.sk

National Bank of Slovakia 
www.nbs.sk/ 

Slovenia Ljubljana Stock Exchange 
www.ljse.si 

Securities Market Agency 
www.a-tvp.si
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